# Direction des Études et Synthèses Économiques

# G 2011 / 17

## Restrictive Fiscal Policies in Europe: What are the Likely Effects?

Clovis KERDRAIN and Vincent LAPÈGUE

Document de travail



Institut National de la Statistique et des Études Économiques

## INSTITUT NATIONAL DE LA STATISTIQUE ET DES ÉTUDES ÉCONOMIQUES

*Série des documents de travail de la Direction des Études et Synthèses Économiques* 

## G 2011 / 17

## Restrictive Fiscal Policies in Europe: What are the Likely Effects?

Clovis KERDRAIN\* and Vincent LAPÈGUE\*\*

NOVEMBRE 2011

This study complements the report "Restrictive fiscal policies in Europe: what are the likely effects?", published in Conjoncture in France in March 2011. We thank Éric DUBOIS, Sandrine DUCHÊNE, Jean-François OUVRARD, Pierre-Alain PIONNIER and participants of the D3E seminar at INSEE for their helpful comments and discussions, Noémie JESS, David LUPOT, Mathilde PAK, Laure TURNER and Émilie VIVAS for their help in processing the data. All errors remain ours.

\* Département de la Conjoncture - Division « Synthèse conjoncturelle »

\*\* Département des Études Économiques d'Ensemble - Division « Croissance et Politiques Macroéconomiques » Timbre G220 - 15, bd Gabriel Péri - BP 100 - 92244 MALAKOFF CEDEX

Département des Études Économiques d'Ensemble - Timbre G201 - 15, bd Gabriel Péri - BP 100 - 92244 MALAKOFF CEDEX - France - Tél. : 33 (1) 41 17 60 68 - Fax : 33 (1) 41 17 60 45 - CEDEX - E-mail : <u>d3e-dg@insee.fr</u> - Site Web Insee : http://www.insee.fr

Ces documents de travail ne reflètent pas la position de l'Insee et n'engagent que leurs auteurs. Working papers do not reflect the position of INSEE but only their author's views.

## Restrictive fiscal policies in Europe: what are the likely effects?

### Abstract

In Europe, fiscal policy will be distinctly more restrictive from 2011 onwards. The fiscal consolidation efforts scheduled for 2011 represent 1.2 percentage points of GDP in the eurozone and 1.8 percentage points in the UK. Such adjustments hit short-term demand and depress activity by Keynesian effects. However, non-Keynesian mechanisms can attenuate them, not least through expectations and supply effects. The impact of fiscal consolidation is also related to the economic background: in line with the recent developments on sovereign bond markets, fiscal variables are found to have a significant impact on interest rate spreads on euro area public bonds. According to our main result, when debt exceeds 100 percentage points of GDP, the marginal effect on the spread of one additional point of debt would be about 7 to 8 basis points. Accordingly, fiscal consolidation is likely to weigh down on euro area sovereign risk premiums. In this light, the NiGEM international macroeconomic model is used to assess the GDP impact of European fiscal consolidation plans. Overall, euro area's GDP in 2011 is estimated to have been 0.6% lower than in a scenario without fiscal consolidation. This impact may however be an upper bound: these simulations do not take account of the possibility of a sudden increase of financial distress following a major loss of confidence in the sovereign bonds of some euro area countries.

Keywords: Fiscal consolidation, sovereign risk spread, eurozone

### Resserrement budgétaire en Europe : quels effets ?

### Résumé

En Europe, la politique budgétaire sera sensiblement plus restrictive à partir de 2011. L'effort de consolidation budgétaire programmé pour 2011 représente ainsi 1,2 point de PIB en zone euro et 1,8 point de PIB au Royaume-Uni. De tels ajustements budgétaires pèsent sur la demande à court terme, et dépriment l'activité, par des effets keynésiens. Cependant, des mécanismes non-keynésiens peuvent les atténuer, à travers notamment la formation d'anticipations ainsi que des effets d'offre. L'impact des plans de consolidation budgétaire dépend également du contexte économique : en résonance avec les récents développements sur les marchés de la dette souveraine, nous estimons que la situation budgétaire des États a un impact significatif sur les primes de risque souverain entre les différents pays de la zone euro. Selon nos estimations, lorsque la dette d'un pays de la zone euro dépasse 100 points de PIB, l'effet marginal sur la prime de risque d'une augmentation de la dette d'un point de PIB serait de 7 à 8 points de base. En conséquence, les plans de consolidation budgétaire sont susceptibles de diminuer les primes de risque dont doivent s'acquitter les États de la zone euro pour se financer. En tenant compte de cela, nous utilisons le modèle macroéconomique multinational NiGEM pour chiffrer l'impact des plans de consolidation européens sur le PIB. Globalement, le PIB de la zone euro aurait été en 2011 inférieur de 0,6 % à celui d'un scénario sans consolidation. Cet effet pourrait toutefois être surestimé dans les circonstances actuelles : nos simulations ne prennent pas en compte la possibilité de l'apparition soudaine de tensions financières, qui suivrait une perte de confiance importante dans les obligations de certains pays de la zone euro.

Mots-clés : Consolidation budgétaire, prime de risque souverain, zone euro

Classification JEL : E6, H6

### Table of contents

Non technical summary	5
I - In 2011, the European countries entered a phase of fiscal consolidation	6
II - Fiscal adjustments generally have a negative impact on activity, but they do involve a large set of antagonistic mechanisms	9
II.1 According to the "traditional" Keynesian mechanisms, fiscal adjustments can lead to a considerable fall in activity	9
II.2but there are some positive effects based on agents' expectations. 1	0
II.3 The effects of fiscal adjustments also depend on the situation of public finances 1	1
III - What are the determinants of the risk premiums on sovereign bonds in Europe?1	5
IV - An evaluation of the impact of consolidation plans in Europe 22	2
IV.1 The NiGEM multinational model can take account of several mechanisms, but is essentially Keynesian by nature 2	2
IV.2 The consolidation plans should have a negative impact on activity in Europe	2
IV.3despite the reaction of the ECB and BoE 2	3
IV.4 "Non-Keynesian" effects may soften these negative effects 2	8
Bibliography	1
Appendix A1 - Shocks and their propagation mechanisms in NiGEM 33	3
Appendix A2 - Additional empirical results on spread determinants 30	6



### Non technical summary

In Europe, fiscal policy will be distinctly more restrictive from 2011 onwards. The fiscal consolidation efforts scheduled for 2011, sourced from the national Finance Acts 2011, amount to 1.2 percentage points of GDP in the eurozone and 1.8 percentage points in the UK. This paper examines the impact of all these consolidation measures on growth in Europe.

Fiscal adjustments have an impact on activity via a large number of channels, some of them antagonistic. First, such adjustments hit short-term demand and depress activity by Keynesian effects. Secondly, these negative effects are generally offset to some extent by a fall in interest rates and the depreciation of exchange rates, making economic activity more competitive. In addition, non-Keynesian effects may appear during some periods of fiscal consolidation. These include "Ricardian" effects: if the adjustment in government finances is perceived as being credible, agents may revise their expectations of future taxes downwards and therefore reduce their saving ratio. This fall in the saving ratio can then attenuate, or even entirely offset the negative effects of the consolidation plans. These latter may also induce positive supply effects.

Most of the OECD countries emerged from the recession with high levels of government debt. This unusual deterioration in public finances must be taken into account when assessing the impact of fiscal consolidation plans, as this impact is not necessarily unrelated to the context in which the plans are implemented. Our paper tries to take account of the standard effects of the economic and fiscal situation on the costs of financing public debt. The empirical analysis shows that in recent times, these factors have contributed to changes in risk premiums in European countries. For example, when debt exceeds 100 percentage points of GDP, the marginal effect on the spread of one additional point of debt would be about 7 to 8 basis points. In some countries, however, such as Greece or Ireland where the rise was very sharp and sudden in 2010, the standard effects we estimate do not explain the whole of the increase.

This raises thus an important question: that of the "alternative" scenario, meaning the growth trajectory in the absence of any fiscal consolidation. In the current context, such a scenario would not necessarily be painless if it went hand-in-hand with a sharp rise in risk premiums on sovereign borrowing and increased uncertainty on financial markets. It would go beyond the standard effects which we estimate. This type of scenario is very difficult to define, however.

The impact of the different consolidation plans in Europe has been evaluated using the NiGEM macroeconomic model, enriched to take account of the effects of the economic and fiscal situation on public debt financing costs. This essentially Keynesian model also takes account of the cross-border effects of the different national plans. Compared to a scenario without fiscal consolidation, the mechanical effects of the consolidation plans would have reduced eurozone growth in GDP by about 0.6 percentage points this year. Their effect on French growth would also have been -0.6 points in 2011, with one-third of this effect being down to the fiscal adjustments being made in the other European countries.

This evaluation is based on the hypothesis that there are none of the "Ricardian" effects mentioned above, by which households might offset the restrictive impact of fiscal consolidation plans by a reduction in their saving ratio. If any such effects did emerge today in some countries, the negative impact on growth would be reduced.

# I - In 2011, the European countries entered a phase of fiscal consolidation

In most of the OECD countries, public finances have deteriorated considerably since the beginning of the crisis in 2008. Under the effects of the built-in stabilizers, the recession has had the mechanical effects of reducing fiscal revenues and increasing social expenditure, in particular spending on unemployment benefits. The stimulus plans introduced to boost activity have also had a negative impact on the budget balance of the advanced economies. In the eurozone<sup>1</sup> for example, public deficits have increased from 2.2% of GDP in 2008 to 6.3% of GDP in 2010.<sup>2</sup>

To get their public finances back onto a sustainable course, most European countries have decided to implement fiscal consolidation plans from 2011 onwards (see Graph 1). In the eurozone, such is the case of Germany, France, Italy, Spain and the Netherlands. The UK has also scheduled large-scale fiscal efforts for the coming years. In addition to this, some Euro-Zone countries also faced sovereign debt crises in 2010: the financing difficulties they encountered in this respect may have accelerated their consolidation efforts. For example, Greece, Ireland and Portugal pursued particularly restrictive fiscal policies in 2011.

The evaluation of the fiscal consolidation plans in this paper is based on a certain number of conventions. First of all, the evaluation of the size of the plans is based on national budget proposals<sup>3</sup>: we took the different public finance measures as presented in the national budgets, their amounts were classified by their nature (in different categories of revenue and expenditure, see below) and their sum was calculated. From a macroeconomic point of view, one alternative would have been to take directly the evolution in the structural balances of the different European countries for 2011, calculated by the OECD or the European Commission, for instance. However, structural balances are a less-than-perfect measurement of actual fiscal impulse (IMF, 2010), and the composition of the consolidation plans must be examined in addition to their scale in order to evaluate their macro- economic impact. In practice, however, the fiscal effort presented here is close to the expected improvement in the structural balance in 2011.

Next, we take only into account the measures having an *additional* impact in 2011. Some of the Euro-Zone countries, notably Spain, had already started their fiscal adjustment process in 2010. These measures represented a fiscal effort in 2010, but are not taken into account here.

Finally, our method implies treating the withdrawal of the stimulus measures as consolidation measures, given that the end of these stimulus plans does contribute to a more restrictive fiscal policy on the whole in 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Here and in the rest of the paper, the "eurozone" refers only to the eleven main historic countries in the zone: Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal and Spain.
<sup>2</sup> Source: Eurostat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The plans taken into consideration in this report are sourced from the countries' national Finance Acts 2011 dated end of 2010. For the eurozone, we use those of Germany, France, Italy, Spain, the Netherlands, Portugal, Greece and Ireland. The report also took account of the fiscal policy conducted in the UK. The other consolidation plans are smaller and of less importance on the European scale and therefore were not taken into account. The new adjustments decided during the year 2011 are not included in this report.



### Graph 1 - Scale of fiscal consolidation plans in Europe in 2011 (in GDP percentage points)

In 2011, for the eurozone as a whole, the fiscal consolidation measures represented an amount of about 1.2 percentage points of the eurozone's GDP. In addition, the measures taken in the UK amounted to about 1.8 points of the UK's GDP. For the following years, this exercise would have been more difficult: public finance forecasts for the next few years in all the European countries see a continuing improvement in the public finance situation through to 2013-2014, but they are unevenly documented.<sup>4</sup> It is thus difficult to forecast the details of the various measures required to make this adjustment. In this paper, we therefore focus exclusively on the decisions made for 2011.

The composition of the European plans shows significant differences between countries (see Graph 2). For example, Germany, Greece and France based a large part of the fiscal adjustment on an increase in revenues.<sup>5</sup> Spain, Ireland and Portugal, meanwhile, have focused more on reducing public expenditure.

Source: national budget bills, calculations by the authors on the basis of announcements in each country

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This raises the issue of the consolidation strategy. To foster their credibility, governments may announce specific consolidation measures several years in advance, as the UK does. This issue is not studied in this paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Notably the reform of Professional Tax and the reduction in tax loopholes in France.



Graph 2 - Composition of fiscal consolidation plans in Europe in 2011

Source: national budget bills, calculations by the authors on the basis of announcements in each country

# II - Fiscal adjustments generally have a negative impact on activity, but they do involve a large set of antagonistic mechanisms.

# II.1 According to the "traditional" Keynesian mechanisms, fiscal adjustments can lead to a considerable fall in activity...

In the short term, according to Keynesian mechanisms, fiscal consolidation measures slow down aggregate demand. For example, a reduction in government consumption or investment has a direct effect on GDP.<sup>6</sup> A reduction in social benefits, an increase in tax or in employee social contributions lead to a fall in the disposable income of households and, in general, in their consumption. Finally, a reduction in grants to companies or an increase in their taxation can affect company profitability, leading them to reduce their investments or increase their prices. In all these cases, GDP is reduced in the short term, all other things being equal.<sup>7</sup>

The decline in demand for the products and services of companies affects their production levels and leads to a reduction in investment and employment. This leads to a fall in household income which in turn leads to a further decline in demand for the products and services of companies, and so on: this is the Keynesian multiplier mechanism. Its scale depends notably on the lever used to reduce the deficit. In particular, the multiplier effect is generally high in the short term in cases of reductions in government consumption or investment. It tends to be a little lower for fiscal adjustment measures that affect household income or those affecting companies, as the multiplier effects in these cases take longer to appear. Over the longer term, however, these measures do not have the same economic outcomes: measures making direct reductions in current expenditure would have little impact on activity, while tax increases can have an impact on labour supply or capital stock, for example, and reduce potential output (see below).

The fall in activity leads to a fall in interest rates that can be interpreted in two ways. On the one hand, it corresponds to a reduction in demand for loanable funds on financial markets, as the financing needs of the government decrease. On the other hand, it can be directly implemented by the Central Bank, seeking to counter the slide in activity by reducing its rates. Monetary "support" for fiscal consolidation policies is therefore possible and can attenuate their negative effects on activity (*crowding out by interest rates*). In addition, adjustment plans are generally accompanied by the depreciation of the exchange rate, buoying up domestic activity by increasing exports (*crowding out by foreign trade*). According to the IMF (2010), a fiscal consolidation of 1 percent of GDP would decrease the short-term interest rate by about 20 basis points and the exchange rate by about 1.1% on average.

This exchange rate depreciation following a fiscal consolidation can be related to the *uncovered interest rate parity*: investors must be compensated for the decrease in the interest rate in the respect to foreign ones by an expected appreciation of the exchange rate; this means that the exchange rate must depreciate at the impact. However, given the current situation in Europe, the absence of consolidation might actually lead to a sharper depreciation, especially due to rising uncertainties about the Eurosystem itself.<sup>8</sup>

In a monetary union like the eurozone, where monetary policy is conducted for the zone as a whole, this monetary policy response will be stronger when fiscal adjustments are handled in a coordinated manner. Conversely, when a consolidation plan is conducted by a country in isolation, the monetary policy response and its positive effects on activity are reduced. Similarly, an inflation-adverse central banker will provide less stimulus for consolidation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Except in cases where the corresponding goods or services were imported.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This paper does not discuss the possibility of reducing debt service costs by improving debt management practices (improve transparency, financial techniques...). Nor do we consider non-tax income of governments (income from property and production, respectively 2% and 7% of total income of France public administrations in 2010) for it is relatively small compared to total public income. Finally, we do not consider possible impacts of privatizations. They reduce the gross debt *de facto* but with ambiguous effects on deficit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Our study does not take account of this possibility. Though, this issue deserves further investigation.

plans including important indirect tax hikes that raise inflation, such as VAT. This is because she faces the dilemma between fighting resulting inflation (by increasing base rates) and limiting their depressive effects on activity (by decreasing base rates). This point is also confirmed by the IMF's (IMF, 2010) empirical analysis.

In the current context, the attenuating mechanisms may come into play to a lesser extent. They might be hindered by the current low nominal interest rates: it is indeed difficult to imagine a much more accommodative monetary policy than that applied since the beginning of the financial crisis. Also, with fixed exchange rates in the eurozone and simultaneous consolidation plans in a large number of OECD countries, the positive effects of exchange rate depreciation are limited. The "traditional" mechanisms therefore suggest that the combined impact of the fiscal consolidation plans in the OECD or in Europe have slowed down growth in the advanced economies in 2011. However, other economic mechanisms based on agents' expectations and supply effects do not necessarily have a negative impact on activity. They might result, on the contrary, in *expansionary fiscal consolidations*.

### II.2 ... but there are some positive effects based on agents' expectations.

"Non-Keynesian" or even "anti-Keynesian" effects can be observed in some periods of fiscal consolidation, most of which concern consumption and labour supply (Alesina and Perotti, 1996, Ardagna, 2004), supporting the theory of expansionary fiscal consolidation. These different effects vary in scale according to the nature of the consolidation.

These are notably effects linked to anticipation of future reductions in taxation, known as *Ricardian effects*. For instance, when faced with a fiscal adjustment effort that is deemed to be credible, households might reduce their savings right away, thereby supporting growth. Such anticipations would be stronger when the fiscal adjustment relies on a reduction in expenditure that is likely to be sustained and is signalling strong political will.<sup>9</sup> Symmetrically, a poor public finance situation might incite households to build up their savings as a precaution, in preparation for future fiscal adjustments. Implementation of a fiscal consolidation strategy could therefore allow reducing excessive *precautionary savings*.

These Ricardian effects are said to be complete when the consolidation effects are entirely offset by the fall in private savings, leaving the level of activity unchanged. Econometric studies generally show that these effects are only partial but can be significant.<sup>10</sup> A recent study by Röhn (2010) evaluated the fall in private saving at 40% of the amount of government fiscal consolidation, on average.

The reduction in the weight of government spending in the economy can also have expansionary effects if agents anticipate that the reduction in tax will reduce economic distortions, thereby increasing productivity and, ultimately, national income (Romer, 2006, p.579 and IMF, 2010). Stabilisation of taxation rates over time is also likely to minimise the cost of economic distortions.

Finally, the composition of fiscal consolidation plans is important. When the fiscal adjustment is made by a reduction in public-sector employment, labour supply is transferred towards the private sector, reducing wage costs and therefore improving competitiveness. In contrast, a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For Alesina and Perotti (1996) for example, fiscal adjustments made by cuts in social transfers and civil service wages are more credible than those based on cuts in investment spending, as the former are often deemed to be more durable than the latter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Ricardian effects would not be complete given, notably, the existence of liquidity constraints on some households (Romer 2006): certain households who anticipate a rise in income and would like to borrow to smooth out their consumption are unable to do so because they cannot provide the banks with assurances of their future repayment capacities. Other mechanisms can reduce ricardian effects, such as demography (see Faruquee (2003) and Buiter (1986)). According to some authors, Ricardian effects during consolidation would be strengthened when government debt is high, as a consolidation makes the possibility of a crisis less likely (Heylen Everaert, 2000).

rise in taxes on labour can lead to a fall in labour supply; depending on the formation of wages, this may lead to a rise in unit labour costs and have a negative impact on competitiveness (Alesina and Perotti 1996). Looking into the medium-term supply effects, fiscal adjustments based on reductions in government expenditure are generally considered to be more effective than those made by increasing taxes (IMF 2010, Ardagna, 2004).

### II.3 The effects of fiscal adjustments also depend on the situation of public finances

The traditional effects of fiscal adjustments, Keynesian and anti-Keynesian alike, have been the focus of much attention since the beginning of the economic crisis. Most of the OECD countries emerged from the recession with deteriorated public finances and historically high levels of government debt. For the eurozone as a whole, the context in which fiscal consolidation is being carried out is therefore a relatively new one. In these conditions, the efficiency of a fiscal consolidation strategy is related to the context in which it is implemented: the position of public finances at the outset and the imbalances that emerge must be taken into account.

This highlights a very crucial question: that of an alternative scenario in the absence of fiscal consolidation. In the current context, this scenario is not necessarily painless in terms of growth. Imbalances in public finances can weigh down on growth via increases in risk premiums on sovereign bonds.

The traditional vision according to which the sovereign debt of industrialised countries is a risk-free asset is today challenged as industrial countries come out of the recession. When a State's public finances are in a poor situation, its public debt may be perceived as being unsustainable; in this case, government borrowing may be financed at a significantly higher risk premium on new bond issues. The rise in the rates on government securities increases debt costs and adds further to the deficit. In the most critical situations, it may even force the State to default on its debt by a snowball effect.<sup>11</sup> Transmission of the crisis to the private sector then becomes possible.

More generally, empirical indications suggest that high public debt can have costs in terms of growth: Reinhart and Rogoff (2010) indicate, for example, that over the long term, a debt level exceeding 90 percentage points of GDP is generally associated with distinctly weaker growth in developed countries. Aside from the rise in risk premiums, a number of factors can explain this phenomenon: on the one hand, a high level of government expenditure can crowd out private investment, drawing off the supply of loanable funds to the detriment of the private sector; on the other hand, fiscal room for manoeuvre can be narrowed making macroeconomic stabilization less efficient: this can generate irreversible losses in extended periods of weak activity, which then reduce growth potential (Champsaur and Cotis, 2010).

Above which threshold does government debt begin to be considered unsustainable? In practice, this threshold is quite blurred, although sustainability indicators do exist (see Box 1). In 2010, tensions on sovereign debt did emerge in certain eurozone Member States. Against a backdrop of imbalanced public finances, fiscal adjustments can therefore make it possible to ease risk premiums, thereby lowering interest rates not only by the fall in demand for loanable funds, but also by reducing the sovereign risk premium.<sup>12</sup> Their negative effects on activity can therefore be softened.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This is the scenario that the support mechanisms for countries in difficulty set up in Europe in 2010 are seeking to

prevent. <sup>12</sup> This dichotomy is stressed by the analyses of Ardagna *et al.* (2007) and Faini (2006). Faini (2006) separates the effects of fiscal policies on the euro area-wide interest rate and on each country's spread, echoing the methodology used in our paper where interest rates are the sum of a risk-free long-term interest rate and a country-spread. Though, in Faini (2006)'s pre-crisis dataset, little impact on country-specific spreads was found, compared to the effects on the euro area aggregate interest rate. Ardagna et al. (2007) adopt a similar

Also, the rise in risk premiums on sovereign debt issues increases uncertainty on financial markets in general, and could lead to an increase in the risk premiums paid by private investors (Cottarelli *et al.*, 2010). It could also have repercussions on the behaviour of households and companies, insofar as it encourages precautionary savings (Romer, 2006, p.579) and discourages risky investments. Likewise, uncertainty as to the composition of the anticipated fiscal adjustment can give rise to additional precautionary savings.<sup>13</sup> Placing public finances on a sound footing could therefore reduce uncertainty, restore household and investor "confidence" and buoy up private consumption and investment.

The economic literature (Ardagna (2009), Heylen Everaert (2000)) also highlights the wealth effect that can result from a reduction in risk premiums on financial markets: the fall in interest rates should increase asset prices and therefore household wealth, which can boost their consumption by a wealth effect.<sup>14</sup> On the whole, a consolidation plan can therefore have less of a negative impact in a period of sovereign default risk (IMF, 2010).

Such a virtual scenario for the whole of the eurozone, combining rising financing costs and growing uncertainty, is obviously difficult to define and calibrate in the usual macroeconomic models built largely on Keynesian mechanisms. In the rest of this paper, however, we will attempt to quantify the relationship between the situation of public finances and the risk premiums for all the Member States in the eurozone. An impact evaluation will then be made using the NiGEM macroeconomic model, incorporating these relationships into the model to take explicit account of risk premium effects.

perspective studying a larger panel of countries. They separate fiscal policies effects on long term interest rates between, first, crowding out effects through demand for loanable funds in international capital markets, second, inflation and exchange rate expectations, third, sovereign default risk. However, using data on long maturity swap contracts to isolate government's default risk, this latter channel was not found to be significant. Note that omitted variable bias is likely to be better dealt with by focusing on intra-euro area spread.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Even if some fiscal consolidation is widely expected in the near future, economic agents are uncertain about whether the measures will concentrate on taxing high income households or reducing transfers to lower income households, taxing labour or wealth, or impact different generations in a different way. Uncertainty also remains as for the level of social protection or the retirement age.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Wealth effects are known to be important in the UK and relatively weak in France (Aviat *et al*, 2007), but may be greater in other euro area countries and in the euro area as a whole (Kerdrain, 2011).

#### Box 1: How can we address the notion of government finance sustainability?

Solvency refers to a State's ability to face its commitments to its creditors. In general, sovereign States are solvent because they have the possibility of raising taxes: this ability to raise taxes constitutes a form of implicit financial asset as collateral for the debt raised on the markets. In practice, however, in certain circumstances solvency crises can occur: in economic history, there have been examples of total or partial sovereign States defaults. A solvency crisis generally comes with a liquidity crisis, which is to say difficulties or even the impossibility for a State to finance itself at interest rates that are not prohibitive.

The *sustainability* of government finances is a somewhat broader concept: it refers to the ability of a State to be solvent at any time in the future, through to a more or less distant time horizon. As such, it integrates a prospective and normative dimension. There is no single measure of government finance sustainability, but there are indicators that allow the notion to be outlined.

Most sustainability indicators are based on the dynamics of the debt and the equation of the accumulation of government debt. The variation in the government debt to GDP ratio in year t can be written as follows:

$$\Delta d_t = \frac{i_t - \gamma_t}{1 + \gamma_t} d_{t-1} - p_t$$

where

-  $d_t$  Is the (net) debt in percentage points of GDP and  $\Delta d_t = d_t - d_{t-1}$ 

-  $p_t$  is the primary balance in percentage points of GDP, that is the government deficit excluding debt interest charges

-  $\gamma_t$  is the growth rate of GDP at current prices

-  $i_t$  is the average nominal interest rate on the debt.

We also note  $p_{t}^{*} = \frac{i_{t} - \gamma_{t}}{1 + \gamma_{t}} d_{t-1}$  the debt-stabilising primary balance, the balance which stabilises the

government debt ratio. It depends on the level of the debt ratio, and on the gap between the interest rate and growth rate: for example, when the interest rate is higher than economic growth (which is generally the case over the long term), a primary surplus is necessary to stabilise the debt ratio, and the higher that debt ratio, the greater that surplus will have to be.

In practice, the current gap between the primary balance and the debt-stabilising primary balance, which gives a signal as to the dynamics of government debt, is the first government finance sustainability indicator.

This is, however, a snapshot indicator that does not take account of forward-looking prospects for government finances. This can be something of a limitation, especially in Europe where ageing of the population is going to give rise to growing social spending in coming decades, combined with lower potential growth (OECD (2010), Table 4.5, chapter 4). The European Commission has therefore developed other sustainability indicators that take account of demographic factors (European Commission, 2009).

Although it is relatively basic, the debt-stabilising balance gap can illustrate the cost of delaying the adjustment of government finances: the more the debt ratio grows, the greater the primary balance required to stabilise it (or begin to reduce it), in particular via larger increases in the tax burden or more drastic public spending cuts.

Koutsogeorgopoulou and Turner (2007) also illustrate the costs of delaying fiscal consolidation. All other things being equal, postponing consolidation efforts increases government debt, which increases the sovereign risk premium (spread). If we include such a premium in the equation (1), such that the interest rate on the debt takes the form  $i_t = i_{0t} + s_t$  where the spread  $s_t$  grows with the

level of government debt, then the debt-stabilising primary balance becomes:

$$p_t^* = \frac{s_t + i_{0t} - \gamma_t}{1 + \gamma_t} d_{t-1}$$

and its growth is not linear with debt.

This additional cost is referred to as the "deadweight cost of debt": in this situation, simply stabilising the government debt to GDP ratio implies an effort on the primary balance that increases sharply the higher the debt level. This situation is even more difficult to turn around if the goal is not merely to stabilise debt in percentage points of GDP, but also to return to a given level of debt, such as the 60% target featured in the European treaties, for example.<sup>a</sup>

The empirical results obtained in our paper (see below) show that one additional percentage point of debt over and above 100 percentage points of GDP can result in an increase of about 8 basis points in the spread. If we take Italy, for example, such an increase in spread would imply an increase in debt service and therefore in the "deadweight" cost of debt of about 2%. Debt service currently represents one-tenth of total government revenues, and offsetting this weight would therefore require a rise of close to 0.2% in government revenue to restore the budget balance.

Koutsogeorgopoulou and Turner (2007) mention other costs of postponing consolidation. To quote them, "a progressive escalation of cost in terms of: an increased risk premium on government debt; higher deadweight debt service costs; a more unfair inter-generational distribution of taxes; (...); and greater political costs in terms of the sustained effort that would eventually be needed to get fiscal policy back on track, as well as likely negative feedback effects on the rest of the economy". The work of the European Commission illustrates the cost of delaying fiscal consolidation in terms of sustainability indicators (European Commission (2009), Table III.3.1)

a. However, as only a small part of the debt is refinanced every year, the costs of servicing the whole debt can only increase progressively following a rise in the spread. This is because most of euro area countries debt is euro-denominated and non-indexed. Notably, this avoids the "original sin", that is, servicing debt in a foreign currency and exposing the budget to exchange rate volatility risks.

# III - What are the determinants of the risk premiums on sovereign bonds in Europe?

In the eurozone, the risk premiums demanded by lenders on sovereign debt issues can be seen in the gap, or spread, between long-term rates on the government debt of the different countries in the eurozone and that of Germany which is considered to be "risk-free". In the course of 2010, the range of such spreads widened considerably, notably with a sharp rise in risk premiums in Greece, Ireland and Portugal (see Graph 3). In this part, we seek to identify the economic determinants of risk premiums, and to quantify their effects through econometric estimates. Box 2 provides a detailed presentation of the method used and the results of the estimates.



Graph 3: 10-year sovereign rates in the eurozone (in %)

Note: the graph shows the interest rates on 10-year government bonds. For each Member State of the eurozone, the risk premium on government securities, or spread, is represented by the difference between the interest rate of the country and the interest rate of Germany. Source: Datainsight, national central banks, OECD

For each Member State of the eurozone, the risk premium on government borrowing interest rates has two different components:

- the liquidity risk premium: when the market size of a given country's debt is large, it is easier for an investor to buy or sell debt instruments given the number of players present on this market. The investor therefore faces less of a risk of not finding a buyer when they wish to sell these debt instruments. *De facto*, market size effects are confirmed by empirical estimates, with the large countries that issue more liquid bonds paying a lower liquidity premium. Conversely, small countries have more difficulty attracting lenders because of the lower liquidity of their issues.
- the sovereign default risk premium: investors can demand a premium to cover the possible risk of default by a State. The higher the probability of default estimated by lenders, the higher this premium will be. In our estimates, the effects of the default risk premium are captured by two groups of variables: on the one hand, criteria relating to the situation of government finances; on the other hand, more general criteria relating to imbalances, including the private sector (see Box 2).

Regarding the effect of public finances, the economic estimate pinpoints two types of factors: both the level of public debt and its trend through a debt-stabilising balance indicator. More precisely, the level of government debt influences risk premiums, but differently under and above some threshold: when debt is less than 100 percentage points of GDP, the effect on the spread of one additional point of debt would be small, at around one basis point; when debt exceeds 100 percentage points of GDP, the marginal effect would be about 7 to 8 basis points.

Empirical analysis also confirms the pertinence of a sustainability indicator (see Box 1). For example, the government deficit would only cause an increase in the spread if it were large enough for debt to build up beyond the 100 percentage points of GDP mark. A robust implicit reference would seem to be the balance stabilising net government debt at 100 percentage points of GDP. In our empirical analysis, the deficit only has an effect in terms of the gap to this reference. Therefore, those countries where growth is weak and the deficit is high have greater difficulties stabilising the level of government debt. All other things being equal, they therefore pay a higher sovereign risk premium. According to our estimates, for a given growth value, one more percentage point of GDP in their deficit would lead to an increase of about 4 to 5 basis points in the spread (see Box 2, Table 2).

Furthermore, imbalance indicators including the private sector were tested: the empirical analysis confirmed the sensitivity of risk premiums to such indicators. For example, 1 percentage point of GDP of dissaving in the private sector would lead to an increase in spreads of about 2 basis points.

These results offer a clearer understanding of recent developments in European spreads, going some way towards explaining the differences observed between the countries in the eurozone since the start of the financial crisis and the resurgence of sovereign debt risk.

The spreads observed over the period 2008Q1-2010Q3 between Germany and the other large countries in the eurozone (see Graphs 4 to 7) can be explained in different ways according to the characteristics of the countries in question. For example, the spread of Italy mainly comes from the high level of its debt, notably because it exceeds 100 percentage points of GDP. It has been contained, however, thanks to the good liquidity of the Italian debt market. France benefits from comparable liquidity effects to those of Italy, but also from a lower level of debt. During the crisis, however, the deficit effects placed stronger upwards pressure on French risk premiums because of a greater public deficit. In France and Italy, risk premium determinants account very effectively for their trends, including in 2010 during the sovereign debt crisis.

Spain went into the crisis with a lower government debt level than France and Italy, but the deterioration in the sustainability of its public finances contributed greatly to the rise in spreads from mid-2008. However, since Q2 2010, almost half of the rise in Spanish spreads remains unexplained by their economic determinants. It is true that the model does not capture the possibility of a sudden and massive loss of confidence as occurred with Greece and Ireland, that prompted the eurozone to activate solidarity mechanisms in their favour. For Greece in particular, a very large part of the rise in the risk premium in 2010 is thus unexplained by the model.

Next, we will evaluate the impact of fiscal adjustments in the eurozone, incorporating these risk premium determinants into the NiGEM macroeconomic model. For a given fiscal adjustment effort, the impact on the long-term rate spread will therefore differ according to the economic and fiscal situation of the different eurozone countries.



Graphs 4 to 7 - Contributions of deficit, debt and liquidity to the spreads on 10-year government issues as compared to Germany, for France, Italy, Spain and Greece (in basis points)



5 - Italy



7 - Greece



Source: calculations by the authors, according to equation 1 in Table 2, Box 2

18

#### **Box 2: Estimation of spread determinants**

The empirical analysis relies on the following model for sovereign interest rates in the euro area:

$$i^{10}kt = f(euro) + sov_risk_{kt} + liq_risk_{kt}$$

where  $i^{10}_{kt}$  is the actuarial yield (or yield-to-maturity) of 10-year maturity bonds of a euro area country *k* at quarter *t*. f(euro) refers to all determinants that are common to the euro area: European Central Bank (ECB) rates, money market conditions, inflation and expectations of these determinants, plus all associated risk premiums due to uncertainties. It can include international factors such as uncertainties as of the dollar value of the euro or, through arbitrage, the yield of assets in the rest of the world (generally referred to as the "world interest rate", which influence increases with international financial integration). All these risk premiums depend on bond maturity, so that one has to consider bonds of the same maturity (here, 10 years).  $sov_risk_{kt}$  is the sovereign risk premium associated to country *k* at quarter *t*. This risk premium is specific to each individual country, as well as the liquidity risk premium  $liq_risk_{kt}$ . Now if we assume that the sovereign risk is zero for Germany, and that the liquidity risk is steady at a low level, then the spreads of other euro area countries, defined as the difference between national and German bonds, only depend on individual sovereign and liquidity risks.

As a result, looking at long-term government rates *within* the euro zone eliminates determinants of interest rates differentials linked to the risks of devaluation of one currency against another (exchange rate risk, inflation rate differential risk, raising the issue of central banks credibility...) that usually come into play outside a monetary union (Haugh *et al.*, 2009).

Besides, the spread relative to Germany is assumed to be independent of other euro countries' situation. If we assume that the average world interest rate clears the global capital market, and that bonds of countries exposed to sovereign debt crises are a small part of the world capital market, then a sudden rise in their sovereign risk should not impact other asset prices. In particular, German bonds yield would not change. However, substitutability between world assets is not perfect, so that sellers of euro area countries' bonds with rising risk premium may well buy significant quantities of German bonds instead (flight to quality), reducing German bonds yield in turn. They may do so because they do not want to decrease the share of bonds, or euro-denominated assets, or both, in their portfolio. This would partly neutralise the impact of a sudden rise of some country's sovereign risk on the euro area bond market average yield. This view relies on the assumption that the relevant capital market "equilibrium" interest rate in the euro area bond market is some country-average of euro area bonds yield (ie. the demand for euro bonds remains roughly unchanged). On the contrary, our paper implicitly assumes that the "equilibrium" conditions are better reflected in the risk-free longterm rate, proxied by German bonds yield. In other words, more risk on some euro countries' bonds will reduce total demand for euro bonds, while the risk-free yield lies in market macroeconomic expectations.<sup>4</sup>

Panel regression techniques were used on quarterly data for ten countries in the eurozone (the ten countries in question were Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Greece, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal and Spain). To understand the divergences in the long-term government rate spreads observed since 2008, it was necessary to take an indicator of government debt market liquidity and determinants of sovereign default risk.

• To capture the liquidity risk premium, we took the share of the country in the total sovereign debt in Euros traded on financial markets as our indicator.

• Regarding perceived default probability, we tested a number of variables concerning the government finance situation, in some cases completed by information on private debt.

The definition of the variables used is specified in the following table (see Table 1).

Hence the estimated equation is:

$$i^{10}kt - i^{10}Germany, t = SPR10a_{kt} = \mu + \sum_{j} \beta^{j} x_{kt}^{j} + \varepsilon_{kt}$$

Where the x' variables are the explanatory variables reported in Table 2.

Table 1: Defi	Table 1: Definitions of the explanatory variables of the sovereign interest rate spreads						
Variable	Definition	Source					
SPR10a	Spread between the 10-year interest rate on national bonds and the 10-year interest rate on German bonds, in interest rate percentage points	Datainsight, national central banks, OECD					
Debt	Government debt as defined by the Maastricht treaty, in percentage points of GDP	OECD					
Gap100	Difference between the government budget balance and the budget balance that would stabilise net public debt at 100 percentage points of GDP, in percentage points of GDP	OECD					
Liq	The long-term debt securities of the country as a proportion of the total long-term sovereign tradable debt of the eurozone, as a %	ECB					
DebtServ	Debt service to total government revenue ratio, as a % OECD	OECD					
CA	Current account balance, situation in Q1 2008, in percentage points of GDP	OECD					
CAPriv	Share of the current account balance associated with the private sector, situation in Q1 2008, in percentage points of GDP <sup>ii</sup>	OECD, Eurostat, calculations by the authors					
Bin_consolidation	Binary variable corresponding to the ability of a State to significantly reduce its deficit after a period of budget crisis <sup>iii</sup>	OECD, calculations by the authors					
Bin_CAPriv	Binary variable equal to 1 if the accumulation since 2000 of the current account balance associated with the private sector is positive, 0 if not <sup>iv</sup>	OECD, Eurostat, calculations by the authors					
GRC10Q3	Binary variable capturing the spread for Greece in Q3 2010						

i. Some annual data has been converted to quarterly data. This is not the case of GDP, however. All the quarterly flows have been annualized so that the estimated coefficients are homogenous to annual rates. ii. Equal to the current account balance less government saving plus government investment.

iii. This variable is used in Haugh *et al.* (2009). It is zero in countries for which a history of sustained deficits can be observed without any large consolidation episode. In concrete terms, this variable is 1 for all the countries in the eurozone except Italy, Greece and Portugal, for which its value is 0.

iv. This is the case of Greece, Ireland, Spain and Portugal.

The use of Gap100 seems to capture the effect of the current government finance situation. Indeed, if we add the deficit or the debt-stabilising balance into the equations in Table 2, neither of them are robustly significant. The results are not modified if an autocorrelation-robust variance-covariance matrix is used, or a matrix which is robust to contemporaneous correlation between the residuals of different countries<sup>b</sup>. Nor are they modified by introducing fixed effects for each quarter. The use of quantile regressions for the median, less sensitive to extreme observations than least squares, also gives very similar results, although the effects found on debt and liquidity risk are slightly reduced. Different types of feasible generalised least squares procedures also provide very similar results, as does use of a sample beginning in 2005. Conversely, the direct introduction of various particular government spending (public consumption and investment, public wages...) or revenue items providing details of economic policies generally did not prove to be robust. Various demographic indicators regarding the sustainability of pensions spending were also integrated into the regressions, without providing a robust result.

The change in the marginal effect of debt was found at 100 percentage points using the following method:

- the 60 percentage points threshold was tested but did not prove significant,
- then the threshold was raised successively by 10 points until the first robustly significant threshold was reached, at 100 percentage points.

Finally, it must be pointed out that these regressions only go some way towards capturing the very large spread gaps between Germany and countries supported by an international aid plan. This is because our linear model is unsuited to capturing a sudden loss of confidence on financial markets in the ability of States to cope with repayment of their debt.

a. This latter assumption is supported by Faini (2006), who finds some evidence that individual sovereign risk actually *raises* euro area average yield (beyond the mechanical effect in the weighted summation). This *supply* of funds effect adds to the other interest rate spillover effect due to aggregate *demand* for loanable funds, which is the traditional crowding out effect. Though, which of the above-mentioned views is the best depends on many factors including the economic situation. It should not have serious empirical consequences and is beyond the scope of the paper. Note that considering a euro area "equilibrium" interest rate relies on the fact that financial integration between euro area countries is larger than with the rest of the world (Faini, 2006).

Table 2: Empirical results. Explained variable: SPR10a						
	Eq1	Eq2	Eq3	Eq4	Eq5	Eq6
Constant	-0.060	0.010	-0.033	-0.163	0.036	0.085
	( 0.147)	( 0.139)	( 0.128)	( 0.143)	( 0.130)	( 0.157)
Gap100	-0.046***	-0.043***	-0.030***	-0.037***	-0.069***	-0.042***
	( 0.005)	( 0.005)	( 0.004)	( 0.005)	( 0.015)	( 0.009)
Debt	0.011***	0.001	0.010***	0.012***	0.009***	0.011***
	( 0.003)	( 0.004)	( 0.002)	( 0.003)	( 0.002)	( 0.002)
(Debt-100)*1 <sub> (Debt&gt;100)</sub>	0.069**	0.062**	0.059**	0.064**	0.059*	0.060**
	( 0.030)	( 0.030)	( 0.029)	( 0.030)	( 0.031)	( 0.030)
DebtServ		0.094**				
		( 0.039)				
CA			-0.012			
			( 0.008)			
CAPriv				-0.020*		
				( 0.011)		
CA*Gap100			0.002***			
			( 0.001)			
CAPriv*Gap100				0.002		
				( 0.001)		
Bin_CAPriv						-0.313**
						( 0.145)
Bin_consolidation						
*Gap100					0.027	
					( 0.016)	
Bin_CAPriv *Gap100						0.021**
					0.007444	( 0.010)
Liq	-0.042***	-0.035***	-0.035***	-0.041***	-0.037***	-0.030***
000/000	( 0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	( 0.009)
GRC10Q3	4.827***	4.873***	4.814***	4.836***	4.910***	4.829***
	( 0.706)	(0.717)	( 0.706)	(0.714)	( 0.722)	(0.715)
Nobs	110	110	110	110	110	110
Period	2008Q1 -					
D2	2010Q3	2010Q3	2010Q3	2010Q3	2010Q3	2010Q3
	0.766	0.776	0.792	0.783	0.772	0.795
	0.535	0.527	0.509	0.521	0.531	0.506
ыс	1.789	1.789	1.754	1.799	1.805	1.743

b. In the presented table, a "diagonal" robust estimator is used, robust to observation specific heteroskedasticity. Different variance estimators always brought similar results, showing that neither serial correlation nor contemporaneous correlation in the residuals really matter for parameter inference (see appendix A2). Hence, the diagonal estimator was used. Though a bit more restrictive, it still allows fairly general conditions and uses averages over more terms, enhancing efficiency. These robustness checks are supportive of the robustness of the empirical approach.

### IV - An evaluation of the impact of consolidation plans in Europe

### IV.1 The NiGEM multinational model can take account of several mechanisms, but is essentially Keynesian by nature

We used the NiGEM macroeconomic model of the National Institute of Economic and Social Research (NIESR) to assess the impact of the consolidation plans in Europe, focusing on the measures decided on for 2011. This model mainly takes account of the "Keynesian" mechanical impact of the plans via their short-term impact on demand, and enables a distinction to be made between consolidation by reducing government expenditure or by increasing revenues, affecting households or companies, these being components for which the multiplier effects may differ (see Appendix A1).

The model also takes account of the cross-border impact of the fiscal adjustment plans via the trade links between the different European countries: a restrictive fiscal policy in one country has a negative impact on demand there, therefore on its imports of products and services from the other European countries.

However, the model does not include some of the other "anti-Keynesian" effects mentioned previously. Although such behaviours have rarely been observed in Europe in the past, the novel situation of European public finances could lead to a modification in the behaviour of private agents.

The model also takes account of the response of the European Central Bank (ECB) and the Bank of England (BoE) to the adjustment plans through a reduction in base rates to boost activity. Depreciation in the exchange rate can also occur. Finally, a sovereign risk spread has been included in the dynamics of the long-term rates on government debt, which is reduced with the implementation of fiscal consolidation policies. Its effect on GDP is a modest one, however, to the time horizon of this analysis.

The "alternative" scenario in which there are no fiscal consolidation efforts does not include any major financial tensions. The impact of the adjustment plans presented in this paper is therefore measured against a situation in which uncontrolled debt would be relatively painless for the economy, as was observed during the period of "great moderation" that preceded the financial crisis. It includes only the "average", possibly non-linear effects on the costs of financing government debt, which are related to the economic and fiscal situation of each country, in line with the empirical estimates presented earlier (see Box 2). In the current context, however, the absence of consolidation might prove to be more costly that envisaged here. Such would be the case if risk premiums were greater than those forecast by the estimated models, as was observed in certain European countries in 2010, or if major financial tensions were to appear and have an impact on the financing of private agents via the banking system.

### IV.2 The consolidation plans should have a negative impact on activity in Europe...

The evaluation was focused on 2011, but also studied a 5-year time window to illustrate the effects transmitted via the different channels. In 2011 in the eurozone as a whole, fiscal consolidation plans are estimated to have weighed down on activity by about 0.6 percentage points of GDP (see Table 1). Their impact should have been relatively uniform from one country to another. In France, the adjustment measures are also estimated to have had a negative effect on GDP of -0.6 percentage points in 2011.

In each country, the relative fall in activity is explained both by domestic adjustment measures and by the effects of consolidation strategies in neighbouring countries imported via international trade. In France notably, the fiscal consolidation plans in the rest of Europe

is estimated to have weighed down on activity by about 0.2 percentage points of GDP in 2011.

The UK introduced a particularly restrictive plan which is estimated to have slowed down the activity by about 0.8 percentage points of GDP in 2011 as against a scenario without consolidation. The impact on GDP should then ease, however, from the following year under the effect of the gradual response of base interest rates.

	Effect on GDP	of which: foreign trade effect due to foreign plans
Germany	-0.4%	-0.2%
Spain	-0.6%	-0.1%
France	-0.6%	-0.2%
Italy	-0.4%	-0.1%
Eurozone	-0.6%	0.0%
United Kingdom	-0.8%	-0.2%

Table 1: Total effect of European plans on GDP in 2011 (as a % of GDP)

Source: calculations by the authors using the NiGEM model

### IV.3 ... despite the reaction of the ECB and BoE

This evaluation of the consolidation plans includes a reaction from the ECB and BoE, which are supposed to conduct a more accommodative policy than in the scenario without fiscal consolidation in order to support activity.<sup>15</sup> Exchange rates of the Euro and Sterling should also depreciate compared to the scenario without fiscal adjustment, in accordance with the reaction in base rates (to respect the uncovered interest rate parity), with a positive impact on the trade balance and, ultimately, on GDP.

Although ECB base rates appear to have been little influenced by fiscal adjustment in 2011<sup>16</sup>, they should react more thereafter. From 2012 onwards, ECB base rates should therefore be some 50 basis points (bp) lower than in the scenario without consolidation. In France, the long-term rates (10-year government bonds) should also be lower by over 30 bp to a five-year time horizon, again compared to the scenario without consolidation, thanks to the progressive transmission of the fall in base rates and a slight reduction in the spread on French sovereign debt of about 10 bp points over this period (see Table 2).

These lower interest rates should have a positive influence on GDP. Although its effect is estimated to have been marginal in 2011, over a five-year period this reaction of base rates should offset the negative impact of the fiscal adjustment plans by 0.7 percentage points of GDP in the eurozone, including the effect of the variation induced in the exchange rate; the effect of monetary policy should be comparable in France and in the other countries studied here (see Graphs 8 to 13). In contrast, the favourable reaction of spreads should have a modest effect on GDP, especially in the short term. That of long-term rates should also contribute to reducing government debt to GDP ratios in all the European countries via the reduction in interest expenditures (see Box 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This more accommodative monetary policy is possible because, in the scenario without fiscal adjustment, base rates would rise progressively, in particular due to the continuing economic recovery and the emergence of tensions on commodity prices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The ECB is faced with increases in indirect taxation, notably VAT in Spain, having a slightly inflationary impact on the whole of the eurozone.

	FCB base rate	Long-term rate	of which fall in	BoE base rate	long-term rate LIK				
	LCD base rate	France	spread	BUL Dase rate	Long-terminate OK				
2011	3	-1	-2	-11	-6				
2012	-43	-15	-3	-53	-47				
2013	-54	-23	-4	-18	-25				
2014	-52	-29	-6	-36	-31				
2015	-45	-33	-8	-33	-35				
2016	-35	-36	-10	-20	-22				

 Table 2: Effects of fiscal consolidation plans on ECB and BoE base rates and on the long-term rates of France and the UK (in basis points).

Source: calculations by the authors using the NiGEM model



Graphs 8 to 13 - Effects of the adjustment plans on GDP (as a % of GDP)

8 - France





















Source: calculations by the authors using the NiGEM model

Unlike the situation in the eurozone, the BoE is set to face a sharp increase in inflation due to the rise in VAT in the UK. However, the current standpoint of the BoE is that this shock is of a temporary nature and does not call for a response from monetary policy in the UK.<sup>17</sup> The BoE should then soften the effect of consolidation by reducing its base rates sharply as compared to a scenario without any adjustment in public finances. This fall should be passed on quickly to long-term rates according to the model and then to the British economy which is traditionally responsive to improvements in financial conditions. At a five-year time horizon, the monetary policy response should considerably soften the mechanical negative impact on GDP of the British consolidation plan by more than one percentage point (see Graph 14).

According to the IMF (IMF, 2010), consolidation plans based on rises in indirect taxes have had a particularly negative effect on activity on average in the past. This type of measure creates a dilemma for the central banks, torn between the objective of countering the slide in activity and fighting against the rise in prices. Again according to the IMF, the central banks have had, on average in the past, a restrictive policy following indirect tax hikes.

If, in another scenario, the BoE is modelled to have chosen to increase its base rates in 2011 in response to the VAT shock, the negative effect of the consolidation plans on the UK's GDP would initially have been stronger. Unlike in the main scenario presented above, the Bank of England base rates would have followed the upturn in inflation resulting from the rise in VAT and would therefore have increased in 2011 by about 50 bp. The negative effect of the consolidation plans would then have been 1.2 percentage points of PIB in 2011 in the UK (see Graph 14). However, the BoE would then reduce its base rates sharply. To a five-year time horizon, the consequences on GDP of this initial choice of monetary policy would be small.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Currently, the majority of the BoE monetary policy committee considers the impact of the rise in VAT on inflation to be temporary, and therefore not requiring a rise in base rates.



Graph 14 - Effects of the consolidation plans on the UK's GDP, according to monetary policy response (as a % of GDP)

\*Main scenario: monetary policy with no response by a rise in base rates to address the VAT shock \*\*Variant: monetary policy according to NiGEM (monetary policy rule) implying a temporary rise in the base rate following the VAT shock

### Source: calculations by the authors using the NiGEM model

### IV.4 "Non-Keynesian" effects may soften these negative effects

This evaluation of the impact of consolidation plans in Europe does not take account of various "non-Keynesian" positive effects studied in the literature, and notably Ricardian effects. According to these effects, the fiscal plans may lead households to anticipate an improvement in government finances and future tax cuts, thereby reducing their tendency to save. According to the NiGEM model, a fall of 1 percentage point in the saving ratio of households in France leads to a rise in GDP of about 0.5%. The measures announced by France are estimated to have weighed down on activity by 0.4 percentage points in 2011 if the consolidation plans of the other European countries are not taken into account. To offset this effect of France's own consolidation measures, a Ricardian fall in the saving ratio of 0.8 percentage points would have been necessary in 2011.<sup>18</sup>

In effect, French households increased their saving ratio from 15% in Q3 2008 to 16.3% in Q3 2010, as a precaution in the face of the economic crisis and possibly, if we take a "Ricardian" view, in response to growing government deficits and the rise in public debt. Also, compared to the main European countries, the saving ratio of households in France is relatively high (Graph 15). This may suggest that a significant reduction in the saving ratio is possible in the medium term, as long as households do foresee an improvement in public finances and take account of this anticipation in their consumer spending. Because they need to reduce their debt levels further, British and Spanish households may have smaller margins for increasing their consumption, however.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Assuming that there is a comparable reaction among European households, the imported effect would then also be cancelled out.

Finally, it should be remembered that the impact of consolidation plans measured here assumes that the scenario without any adjustment would be relatively painless, with moderate risk premiums on the whole. Such a scenario may be acceptable if we take a short-term view, as is the case in this paper, but we cannot rule out the possibility that it might lead to a sharp rise in risk premiums in certain eurozone countries which would weigh down on growth: with such a central scenario, the reduction in risk premiums allowed by the consolidation plans would be greater than that taken into account here.

All in all, if all the "non-Keynesian" factors came into play, carrying out no consolidation in Europe would have a distinctly higher cost for growth than that taken into account here, through a modest effect on interest rate spreads. In this case, the cost of budget adjustment would be less than the 0.6 percentage points of GDP estimated for the eurozone countries and the 0.8 percentage points of GDP estimated for the UK.



Graph 15 - Gross saving ratio of households in some European countries (gross savings as a % of gross disposable income)

NB: the gross saving ratio published by Eurostat is available for all the countries only if non-profit institutions serving households (NPISH) are included. Source: Eurostat

The consolidation plans should decrease the public debt to GDP ratio (see Table). This should fall by almost 5 percentage points of GDP in France and almost 9 percentage points of GDP in the UK by 2016. In contrast, Italy should see its public debt in percentage points of GDP increase slightly over the short term, because the improvement in the budget deficit is likely to be offset by the negative impact on GDP, notably due to the imported effects of the other plans. The reduction in its debt ratio through to 2016 should thus be around 1 percentage point of GDP.

Table: Effect of the consolidation plans on public debt to 2016 (in GDP percentage points)

Germany	-3.5
Spain	-4.2
France	-4.6
Italy	-1.1
Euro Zone	-4.9
United Kingdom	-8.6

Source: calculations by the authors using the NiGEM model

The evolution in debt in percentage points of GDP can be broken down into three factors (see Graph): a "deficit" effect due to the improvement in the primary balance, an effect due to the reduction in the debt burden (decrease in the amount of debt, or "volume" effect, and of the interest rates on that debt, or "rate" effect), and finally a "growth" effect due to the negative shock on GDP, according to the equation (1) in Box 1.<sup>a</sup> This breakdown is presented below for the eurozone. Over the first years, the effect of the improvement in the primary balance is moderated by the negative effect on growth. However, a virtuous circle is then established thanks to the reduction in the debt burden, while the effect due to growth levels out.



Graph: Contributions of debt service, growth and the primary balance to the total effect of consolidation plans on public debt in the eurozone (in GDP percentage points)

Source: calculations by the authors using the NiGEM model

a. This equation neglects the existence of indexed debt, for instance inflation-linked bonds. Though, looking at the data, this approximation is relevant and does not impact the results.

### Bibliography

Alesina A., R. Perotti (1996), "Fiscal Adjustments in OECD Countries: Composition and Macroeconomic Effects," NBER Working paper 5730, August.

Ardagna, S. (2004), "Fiscal stabilizations: when do they work and why", European Economic Review 48(5): 1047-1074.

Ardagna S. (2009), "Financial markets' behavior around episodes of large changes in the fiscal stance", European Economic Review 53(1): 37-55.

Ardagna S., F. Caselli, and T. Lane (2007), "Fiscal Discipline and the Cost of Public Debt Service: Some Estimates for OECD Countries," The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics: Vol. 7: Iss. 1.

Aviat A., Bricongne J.-C. et Pionnier P.-A. (2007), "Richesse patrimoniale et consommation: un lien ténu en France, fort aux États-Unis", Note de conjoncture de décembre 2007, Insee, pp. 37-52.

Buiter W.H. (1986), "Death, Population Growth, Productivity Growth and Debt Neutrality," NBER Working Paper 2027, September.

Champsaur P. and J.-P. Cotis (2010), « Rapport sur la situation des finances publiques », april 2010.

http://www.insee.fr/fr/publications-et-services/dossiers\_web/finances-publiques/rapportfinances-publiques.pdf

European Commission (2009), "Sustainability Report 2009", European Economy 9/2009, Economic and Financial Affairs.

Cottarelli, C., L. Forni, J. Gottschalk and P. Mauro (2010), "Default in Today's Advanced Economies: Unnecessary, Undesirable and Unlikely", IMF Fiscal Affairs Department.

European Commission (2009), "Sustainability Report 2009", EUROPEAN ECONOMY 9/2009, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs

Faini R. (2006), "Fiscal Policy and Interest Rates in Europe", Economic Policy, volume 21, Issue 47, pp. 443-489.

Faruquee, H. (2003), "Debt, deficits, and age-specific mortality", Review of Economic Dynamics 6, 300-312.

Haugh, D., P. Ollivaud and D. Turner (2009), "What Drives Sovereign Risk Premiums? An Analysis of

Recent Evidence from the Euro Area", OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 718, OECD Publishing.

Heylen F., G. Everaert (2000), "Success and Failure of Fiscal Consolidation in the OECD: A Multivariate Analysis", Public Choice, Vol. 105, No. 1/2, pp. 103-124

International Monetary Fund (IMF) (2010), "Will It Hurt? Macroeconomic Effects of Fiscal Consolidation", World economic outlook: "Recovery, Risk, and rebalancing", Chapter 3, October.

Koutsogeorgopoulou, V. and D. Turner (2007), "The Costs of Delaying fiscal Consolidation: A Case Study for Greece", OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 582, OECD Publishing.

Kerdrain, C. (2011), "How Important is Wealth for Explaining Household Consumption Over the Recent Crisis? An Empirical Study for the United States, Japan and the Euro Area", OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 869, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2010), OECD Economic Outlook, Vol. 2010/2 (EO-88), OECD Publishing.

Reinhart, C. and K. Rogoff (2010), "Growth in a Time of Debt", National Bureau of Economic Research

Working Paper No. 15639, January.

Röhn, O. (2010), New evidence on the private saving offset and Ricardian equivalence, OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 762, OECD Publishing.

Romer D. (2006), "Advanced Macroeconomics". Third edition. New York: McGraw-Hill.

### Appendix A1 - Shocks and their propagation mechanisms in NiGEM

NiGEM is a multinational model in which all the countries mentioned in this paper are included individually. All the economies in the model are linked to each other by trade and financial flows. The budget balance equation contains three types of fiscal revenues (direct taxes on people, indirect taxes and taxes on companies), three primary public spending items (government consumption, government investment and social transfers) and debt servicing. The impact of the consolidation plans can therefore be calculated according to their composition in terms of these six budget items. It should be noted, however, that shocks on direct taxes and on social transfers have an identical effect on household income.

The endogenous variables of the model were all left endogenous. It should therefore be emphasised that by various crowding-out effects, the variation in the primary balance in percentage points of GDP is not necessarily equal to the scale of the plan that is announced. For example, the reduction in activity resulting from a given shock may reduce tax revenues from households and companies and therefore reduce the impact of the measure on the budget.

### Main fiscal policy shock propagation mechanisms in NiGEM

Direct taxes have an impact on the disposable income of households and, ultimately, on their consumption. Social transfers have the same effect; *de facto*, the line is sometimes fine between these

two items in the classification of consolidation measures. In NiGEM, taxes on businesses weigh down on companies through the cost of capital. They also have an effect on the financial assets of households via share prices. Indirect taxes, modelled in the form of a VAT rate, have an influence on the consumer spending deflator, export prices, real wages, the gross operating surplus of companies and, consequently, on share prices and therefore also on household wealth.

A government consumption shock has a direct (accounting) impact on GDP, on national payroll in proportion to the size of the public sector and therefore on household income. A government investment shock has an accounting influence on GDP, but also on public capital stock and therefore on potential GDP. It is therefore the only fiscal shock that has a long-term multiplier effect.

In addition, the simulation exercise excluded certain measures of different nature likely to have a negligible impact on European GDP. These were a variety of minor measures including a reduction in international cooperation (Spain, Netherlands) and the sale of radio frequencies in Italy (positive effect of  $\in 2.4$  billion in 2011).

The table below indicates the multipliers for several standard fiscal consolidation shocks in NiGEM. Compared to a fiscal shock on the national level, a eurozone-wide shock affects French GDP via two channels. In the short term, the shocks from the other countries reinforce the negative impact on French GDP through international trade. In the longer term, the shocks from the other eurozone countries give rise to a stronger monetary policy response, the positive effect of which exceeds the negative effect due to trade.

### Monetary policy response to fiscal consolidation and impact on exchange rates

The base rates react to consolidation plans through their impact on activity and inflation. In particular, in the case of consolidation by a rise in VAT, the central bank is faced with a

dilemma: increase its rates because of the rise in prices, or reduce them to support activity. This problem associated with a rise in indirect taxes has already been noted in the empirical study of the IMF (2010). Our paper did not take account of any unconventional monetary policies that might be introduced by the ECB or the BoE.

The long-term (10-year) interest rate adjusts to the base rate by an error correction mechanism. In the short term, it moves with the quarterly variation in the short-term rate, while in the long term, the long-term rate is equal to the base rate to which a constant is added. This rate is used in the model to calculate interest on government debt and the user cost of capital for companies and households.

The reduction in base interest rates also implies a depreciation in the exchange rate resulting from the uncovered interest rate parity. For example, a fall in interest rates in the eurozone reduces the attractiveness of the Euro against other currencies, all other things being equal.

Multipliers for France	Direct tax burden on households	Government investment	Government consumption
after 1 year	-0.3	-0.7	-0.9
after 5 years	-0.5	-0.9	-0.7

Table: Multipliers for different consolidation shocks according to the NiGEM model

Multipliers for the Euro Zone	Direct tax burden on households	Government investment	Government consumption
after 1 year	-0.3	-0.9	-1.1
after 5 years	-0.2	-0.8	-0.1

Explanatory note: the shock of a permanent rise in the tax burden on households in France improving the general government balance by one percentage point of GDP weighs down on French GDP in volume by 0.3 percentage points after one year and by 0.5 points after five years. An identical shock in all the eurozone countries reduces eurozone GDP in volume by 0.3 percentage points after five years.

### Incorporation of the spread on long-term interest rates

In the model, the long-term rate does not depend on the sovereign risk premium determinants. This missing spread is therefore incorporated via a shock on the residual of the long-term rates equation. This shock is calculated according to the impact of the consolidation plans on the determinants of the spread, essentially the state of government finances, using one of the regressions (equation 1) referred to in Box 2.

Normally, variations in long-term government rates have an impact on the financing costs of the private sector. Given that the sovereign risk spread is, by definition, specific to public debt, it is not certain that this spread will be passed on in full to the private sector. In this study, we considered that half of it was passed on to the private sector. As the impact of the consolidation plans on the spread is progressive over time, the choice of this repercussion had a negligible effect on the results.

#### Breakdown of the effects on GDP

It is possible to break down the effects of consolidation according to the four channels mentioned above: the direct effect of fiscal consolidation, the reduction in the spreads on

long-term rates, the effect of monetary policy and its implication on the depreciation of the exchange rate. Initially, the total impact of the consolidation plans was evaluated leaving all variables in the model as endogenous. The three indirect effects of consolidation were then incorporated separately into the model. The "pure", direct effect of fiscal consolidation on activity was obtained by difference, subject to the hypothesis of linearity of the model.

Similarly, the effects of the consolidation plans for each country were broken down according to whether they came from the national plan or foreign plans. To do this, the effect of each national consolidation plan was calculated separately. The imported effect from foreign plans was then calculated as the difference between this national plan effect and the effect of all the plans, after subtracting the effects of monetary policy and spreads.

### Appendix A2 - Additional empirical results on spread determinants

This appendix sheds additional light on the link between sovereign interest rate spreads in the euro area and their explanatory variables. We present here four different specifications of the equations estimated in the Box 2 as a robustness check. Each of them differs with these latter on a particular point:

- Table A2.1 adds period fixed effects: they can capture any effects due to German economic policies, as well as potential impacts of global uncertainty;
- Table A2.2 uses a different estimator for the standard errors. Here, a variancecovariance matrix robust to both serial correlation and heteroskedasticity in the residuals is used;
- Table A2.3 uses the 3-year maturity spreads instead of 10-year. Clearly, this table is not expected to bring the *same* coefficients as is Box 2. What it shows is that the broad conclusions remains consistent with the use of a different measure sovereign spreads. Here, we find that the level of debt is more influential than with a 10-year maturity. unlike the level of deficit. This illustrates that the deficit reflects future debt. Overall, these results indicate that an unsustainable fiscal policy is likely to be reflected on an important part of the sovereign yield curve, though not uniformly;
- Table A2.4 shows the same models as in Box 2, but estimated by a quantile regression. We estimate the *median* of the 10-year spread (instead of the *mean* with ordinary least squares) conditional to its explanatory variables. The relevance of this method as a robustness check is that quantile regressions are known to be less influenced by outliers in the explained variable than ordinary least squares estimates.

In all cases, our results remain broadly unchanged. In general, the main explanatory variables remain significant. Moreover, for the Equation 1, the marginal effects of an increase in the level of debt and deficit remain close to those found in Box 2. This indicates that of the empirical results incorporated in our fiscal consolidation simulations are relatively robust.

	Eq1	Eq2	Eq3	Eq4	Eq5	Eq6
Constant	-0.068	0.271*	0.083	-0.128	0.061	0.260*
	(0.156)	( 0.150)	( 0.120)	( 0.147)	( 0.145)	( 0.133)
Gap100	-0.054***	-0.036***	-0.027***	-0.042***	-0.086***	-0.036***
	(0.009)	( 0.009)	( 0.008)	( 0.009)	( 0.016)	( 0.009)
Debt	0.010***	-0.012**	0.008***	0.011***	0.007***	0.010***
	(0.002)	( 0.006)	( 0.002)	( 0.002)	( 0.002)	( 0.002)
(Debt-100)*1 <sub>l(Debt&gt;100)</sub>	0.068***	0.053*	0.059**	0.063**	0.054**	0.060**
	( 0.025)	( 0.027)	( 0.025)	( 0.025)	( 0.026)	( 0.026)
DebtServ	· · · ·	0.193***	· · · ·	· · ·	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	. ,
		( 0.054)				
СА		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	-0.016**			
			( 0.007)			
CAPriv			()	-0.019*		
				( 0.010)		
CA*Gap100			0.002***	()		
			(0.001)			
CAPriv*Gap100			()	0.002		
				(0.001)		
Bin CAPriv				()		-0.368***
						(0.115)
Bin consolidation *Gap100					0.035**	, ,
					(0.016)	
Bin CAPriv *Gap100					(/	0.029***
						(0.009)
Lia	-0.040***	-0.025***	-0.032***	-0.039***	-0.033***	-0.026***
1	( 0.008)	(0.009)	( 0.008)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)
GRC10Q3	4.340***	4.507***	4.357***	4.371***	4.441***	4.433***
	(0.682)	(0.700)	(0.674)	( 0.686)	( 0.685)	(0.697)
Nobs	110	110	110	110	110	110
Period	2008Q1 - 2010Q3	2008Q1 - 2010Q3	2008Q1 - 2010Q3	2008Q1 - 2010Q3	2008Q1 - 2010Q3	2008Q1 - 2010Q3
R <sup>2</sup>	0.818	0.840	0.845	0.832	0.827	0.849
SE	0.497	0.467	0.462	0.482	0.486	0.457
BIC	1.965	1.875	1.885	1.970	1.953	1.864

Table A2.1 Estimated equations with period fixed effects

	Eq1	Eq2	Eq3	Eq4	Eq5	Eq6
Constant	-0.060	0.010	-0.033	-0.163	0.036	0.085
	( 0.236)	( 0.212)	( 0.215)	( 0.209)	( 0.250)	( 0.188)
Gap100	-0.046***	-0.043***	-0.030***	-0.037***	-0.069***	-0.042***
	( 0.004)	( 0.005)	( 0.003)	( 0.006)	( 0.012)	( 0.009)
Debt	0.011**	0.001	0.010**	0.012***	0.009*	0.011**
	( 0.005)	( 0.007)	( 0.004)	( 0.004)	( 0.005)	( 0.004)
(Debt-100)*1 <sub> (Debt&gt;100)</sub>	0.069**	0.062**	0.059**	0.064**	0.059**	0.060**
	( 0.027)	( 0.029)	( 0.024)	( 0.027)	( 0.025)	( 0.026)
DebtServ		0.094				
		( 0.065)				
CA			-0.012*			
			( 0.006)			
CAPriv				-0.020**		
				( 0.010)		
CA*Gap100			0.002***			
			( 0.001)			
CAPriv*Gap100				0.002		
				( 0.002)		
Bin_CAPriv						-0.313**
						( 0.146)
Bin_consolidation *Gap100					0.027*	
					( 0.016)	0.00/111
Bin_CAPriv *Gap100						0.021**
	0.040***	0.005***	0.005***	0.044***	0.007***	( 0.009)
Lid	-0.042***	-0.035***	-0.035***	-0.041^^^	-0.037***	-0.030^**
0001000	( 0.009)	( 0.010)	( 0.007)	( 0.010)	( 0.010)	( 0.008)
GRU10Q3	4.827***	4.873	4.814	4.836	4.910***	4.829
N1 1	( 0.506)	( 0.443)	( 0.355)	( 0.493)	( 0.454)	( 0.435)
NODS	110	110	110	110	110	110
Period	2008Q1 - 2010Q3					
	0.700	0.770	0.792	0.783	0.772	0.795
	0.535	0.527	0.509	0.521	0.531	0.506
	1.789	1.789	1.754	1.799	CU8.1	1.743

 
 Table A2.2 Estimated equations with heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation-robust variancecovariance estimator

	Eq1	Eq2	Eq3	Eq4	Eq5	Eq6
Constant	0.001	0.082	0.043	-0.111	0.126	0.216
	( 0.182)	( 0.166)	( 0.173)	( 0.177)	( 0.157)	( 0.214)
Gap100	-0.040***	-0.037***	-0.022***	-0.031***	-0.070***	-0.033***
	( 0.006)	( 0.005)	( 0.005)	( 0.006)	( 0.020)	( 0.010)
Debt	0.009***	-0.003	0.007**	0.010***	0.006**	0.009***
	( 0.003)	( 0.005)	( 0.003)	( 0.003)	( 0.003)	( 0.003)
(Debt-100)*1 <sub> (Debt&gt;100)</sub>	0.113**	0.105*	0.102*	0.107**	0.100*	0.104*
	( 0.053)	( 0.053)	( 0.052)	( 0.053)	( 0.055)	( 0.053)
DebtServ		0.109**				
		( 0.050)				
CA			-0.017*			
			( 0.009)			
CAPriv				-0.021*		
				( 0.012)		
CA*Gap100			0.002***			
			( 0.001)			
CAPriv*Gap100				0.002		
				( 0.001)		
Bin_CAPriv						-0.398**
					0.005*	( 0.161)
Bin_consolidation *Gap100					0.035*	
					( 0.021)	0.045
Bin_CAPriv ~Gap100						0.015
lie	0.052***	0.045***	0.045***	0.050***	0.047***	( 0.012)
Lid	-0.053	-0.045	-0.045	-0.052	-0.047	-0.040
GBC1002	( 0.017)	( 0.017)	( 0.016)	( 0.017)	( 0.017)	( 0.016)
GRETUQS	(1.295)	(1 200)	(1.204)	(1 200)	(1 205)	(1 200)
Nobo	(1.200)	(1.299)	(1.204)	(1.299)	(1.303)	(1.299)
Poriod	200801 201002	200801 201002	200801 201002	200901 201002	200901 201002	200801 201002
	0 737	0 745	0 750	0 7/0	0 7/3	0 757
SE	0.737	0.745	0.759	0.749	0.743	0.757
BIC	2 396	2 407	2 392	2 433	2 413	2 401
	2.000	2.707	2.002	2.700	2.710	2.701

Table A2.3 Estimated equations with the 3-year maturity spreads as the explained variable, instead of 10-year spreads

$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$						/	
Constant         0.034         0.000         0.085         0.006         0.121         0.024           Gap100         (0.122)         (0.091)         (0.114)         (0.126)         (0.094)         (0.136)           Gap100         -0.038***         -0.036***         -0.030***         -0.030***         -0.050***         -0.050***         -0.054***           Gap100         (0.007)         (0.006)         (0.005)         (0.006)         (0.002)         (0.015)         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           DebtServ         0.046***         0.046***         0.046***         0.046***         0.002**         (0.001)         (0.015)         0.0015         0.002*         (0.001)         (0.015)         0.002         (0.002)         0.024**         (0.016)         (0.016)         (0.016)         (0.016)         (0.016)         (0.017)         (0.017)         (0.017)         (0.017)         (0.021)         (0.021)         (0.021)		Eq1	Eq2	Eq3	Eq4	Eq5	Eq6
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Constant	0.034	0.100	0.085	0.006	0.121	0.024
Gap100         -0.038***         -0.036***         -0.027***         -0.030***         -0.076***         -0.054***           Debt         (0.007)         (0.006)         (0.005)         (0.006)         (0.020)         (0.011)           Debt         0.006***         -0.003         (0.002)         (0.001)         (0.002)           (Debt-100)*1(Debt-100)         0.047***         0.044***         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           DebtServ         0.047***         0.046***         0.044***         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           CA         0.016         (0.015)         (0.014)         (0.016)         (0.015)         0.044***           CA         0.065**         0.065**         0.008         0.045***         0.045***           CA         0.065**         0.004         (0.007)         0.008         0.045***         0.045***           CA         0.002**         (0.007)         -0.008         0.045***         0.002**         0.002**         0.014***         0.029         0.014**           CA*Gap100         -         0.016***         0.002**         0.032***         0.032****         0.032***         0.032***         0.032****         0.014***         0.014***		( 0.122)	(0.091)	( 0.114)	( 0.126)	( 0.094)	( 0.136)
Debt         (0.007)         (0.006)         (0.005)         (0.006)         (0.020)         (0.011)           Debt         0.006***         -0.000         0.005***         0.006***         0.005***         0.005***           (Debt-100)*1[(Debt-100)         0.047***         0.046***         0.047***         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           (Debt-100)*1[(Debt-100)         0.047***         0.046***         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           (DebtServ         0.046***         0.046***         0.044***         0.046**         0.045**           CA         (D.016)         (D.015)         (D.014)         (D.016)         (D.016)         (D.015)           CAPriv         -0.004         -0.004         (D.007)         -0.008         -0.004         -0.008           CA*Gap100         -         -         -0.008         (D.007)         -0.008         -0.029         -0.029         (D.114)           Bin_CAPriv         -         -         -         -0.029         (D.114)         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.029         (D.114)           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -         -         -         -         -         -0.013****         (D.032***         (D.032*** <td>Gap100</td> <td>-0.038***</td> <td>-0.036***</td> <td>-0.027***</td> <td>-0.030***</td> <td>-0.076***</td> <td>-0.054***</td>	Gap100	-0.038***	-0.036***	-0.027***	-0.030***	-0.076***	-0.054***
Debt         0.006***         -0.000         0.005***         0.006***         0.005***         0.006***           (0.002)         (0.003)         (0.002)         (0.002)         (0.001)         (0.002)           (Debt-100)*1 (Debt-100)         0.047***         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           (0.016)         (0.015)         (0.014)         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           DebtServ         0.065**         (0.014)         (0.016)         (0.016)         (0.016)         (0.015)           CA         -0.004         -0.004         -0.008         -0.008         -0.008         -0.009         -0.029           CAPriv         -0.001         0.002**         (0.002)         -0.029         -0.029         -0.029           CAPriv*Gap100         -         -         -         -0.029         -0.029         -0.029           Bin_CAPriv         -         -         -         -         -0.029         -0.014***           Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -         -         -         -         -         -           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -		( 0.007)	( 0.006)	( 0.005)	( 0.006)	( 0.020)	( 0.011)
(0.002)         (0.003)         (0.002)         (0.002)         (0.001)         (0.002)           (Debt-100)*1](Debt-100)         0.047***         0.046***         0.047***         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           DebtServ         (0.016)         (0.015)         (0.014)         (0.016)         (0.015)           CA         (0.032)         -0.004         (0.007)         -0.008         -0.004           CAPriv         -0.004         (0.007)         -0.008         -0.009         -0.009           CA*Gap100         -0.01         0.002**         (0.002)         -0.009         -0.002           Bin_CAPriv         -0.01         0.002**         (0.002)         -0.029         (0.114)           Bin_cAPriv*Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.048**         (0.012)           Bin_CAPriv*Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           Bin_CAPriv*Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           Bin_CAPriv*Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           (0.025)         (0.0	Debt	0.006***	-0.000	0.005***	0.006***	0.005***	0.006***
(Debt-100)*1 <sub>[[Debb-100]</sub> 0.047***         0.046***         0.044***         0.028*         0.045***           (0.016)         (0.015)         (0.014)         (0.016)         (0.015)         (0.014)         (0.016)         (0.015)           DebtServ         0.065**         (0.032)         -0.004         (0.009)         -0.008         -0.008           CA         -0.004         (0.007)         -0.008         (0.009)         -0.008         -0.009           CA*Gap100         -0.004         0.002**         (0.000)         -0.002         -0.002         -0.002           Bin_CAPriv         -0.016***         0.002**         (0.002)         -0.014***         -0.014***         -0.029           Bin_cAPriv         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.014***         -0.013***           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***		( 0.002)	( 0.003)	( 0.002)	( 0.002)	( 0.001)	( 0.002)
Markan Barton Barevarea Barton Barton Barton Barton Barton Barton Bart	(Debt-100)*1 <sub> (Debt&gt;100)</sub>	0.047***	0.046***	0.047***	0.044***	0.028*	0.045***
DebtServ         0.065**         0.065**         0.004         0.007           CA         -0.004         (0.007)         -0.008         -0.004           CAPriv         0.002**         (0.009)         -0.008         (0.009)           CA*Gap100         0.002**         (0.001)         0.002         -0.029           CAPriv*Gap100         0.002         (0.002)         -0.029         (0.114)           Bin_CAPriv         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         (0.021)           Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         (0.012)           Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         5.865***         5.924***           (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.004)         (0.004)         (0.004)         (0.004)           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3 2008Q1 - 20		( 0.016)	( 0.015)	( 0.014)	( 0.016)	( 0.016)	( 0.015)
CA         (0.032)         -0.004 (0.007)         -0.008 (0.009)           CAPriv         -0.008         (0.009)           CA*Gap100         0.002**         (0.009)           CAPriv*Gap100         0.002**         (0.002)           Bin_CAPriv         0.002         (0.002)           Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***           Bin_	DebtServ	. ,	0.065**		. ,		
CA         -0.004         -0.004         -0.008         -0.008         -0.008         -0.008         -0.008         -0.009         -0.008         -0.009         -0.009         -0.009         -0.009         -0.009         -0.009         -0.009         -0.009         -0.016***         -0.009         -0.016***         -0.010***         -0.010***         -0.029         -0.029         -0.029         -0.014**         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.015***         -0.013***			( 0.032)				
CAPriv         (0.007)         -0.008         (0.009)           CA*Gap100         0.002***         (0.0001)         (0.002)           CAPriv*Gap100         0.002**         (0.001)         0.002           CAPriv*Gap100         0.002         (0.002)         (0.002)           Bin_CAPriv         0.048**         (0.014)         (0.114)           Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***         (0.021)           Bin_cCAPriv *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***         (0.021)           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***           Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***           (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.004)         (0.005)         (0.004)           GRC10Q3         5.839**         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3 2008Q1 -	СА			-0.004			
CAPriv         -0.008         -0.008         -0.008         -0.009         -0.009         -0.009         -0.029         -0.029         -0.029         -0.029         -0.029         -0.0114)         Bin         -0.029         -0.0114)         Bin         -0.029         -0.029         -0.0114)         Bin         -0.029         -0.0114)         Bin         -0.018***         -0.029         -0.0114)         -0.0114)         Bin         CAPriv *Gap100         -0.018***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013*** <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>( 0.007)</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>				( 0.007)			
CA*Gap100         (0.009)         (0.009)           CAPriv*Gap100         0.002**         (0.001)         0.002           Bin_CAPriv         0.002         (0.002)         (0.002)           Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -0.029         (0.114)           Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.014***         (0.021)           Bin_cAPriv *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.014***         0.048**           Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3 2008Q1 -	CAPriv				-0.008		
CA*Gap100         0.002**         0.002**         0.002           CAPriv*Gap100         0.002         0.002         0.002           Bin_CAPriv         0.002         0.002         0.002           Bin_consolidation *Gap100         0.002         0.002         0.002           Bin_cAPriv *Gap100         0.0048**         0.048**         0.002           Bin_cAPriv *Gap100         0.001         0.002         0.032***           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         0.0016***         -0.016***         0.014***           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         0.002         0.002         0.032***           Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3 2008Q1 - 20					( 0.009)		
CAPriv*Gap100         (0.001)         0.002 (0.002)         -0.029 (0.114)           Bin_CAPriv         -0.016***         -0.029 (0.114)           Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.016***         -0.016***           Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***           (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.005)           (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.005)           (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.005)           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)           Nobs         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3         2008Q1 - 2010Q3           Pseudo R <sup>2</sup> 0.474         0.497         0.528           SE         0.594         0.579         0.550	CA*Gap100			0.002**	. ,		
CAPriv*Gap100         Image: Second Seco				(0.001)			
Bin_CAPriv         Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.011***         -0.015***         -0.0129         (0.114)         0.032***         0.032***         0.032***         0.032***         0.032***         0.032***         0.032***         0.012)         10.012         10.014         11.0	CAPriv*Gap100				0.002		
Bin_CAPriv         Bin_consolidation *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.015***         -0.015***         -0.013**					( 0.002)		
Bin_consolidation *Gap100	Bin_CAPriv				. ,		-0.029
Bin_consolidation *Gap100         0.048**         0.0048**           Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         0.032***           Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3							( 0.114)
Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.013***         (0.032***         (0.012)         0.032***         (0.012)         0.032***         (0.012)         0.032***         (0.012)         0.032***         (0.012)         0.032***         (0.012)         0.032***         (0.012)         0.032***         (0.012)         0.013***         (0.012)         0.013***         (0.012)         0.013***         (0.012)         (0.004)         (0.014)         (0.014)         (0.014)	Bin_consolidation *Gap100					0.048**	
Bin_CAPriv *Gap100         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         (0.032***           Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.015***         -0.013***           (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.004)         (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.004)           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3						( 0.021)	
Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.004)         (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.005)           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3 20	Bin_CAPriv *Gap100						0.032***
Liq         -0.019***         -0.016***         -0.016***         -0.014***         -0.015***         -0.013***           (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.004)         (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.005)         (0.004)           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3         2008Q1 - 20							( 0.012)
(0.005)         (0.004)         (0.004)         (0.005)         (0.004)         (0.004)           GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3         2008Q1	Liq	-0.019***	-0.016***	-0.016***	-0.014***	-0.015***	-0.013***
GRC10Q3         5.839***         5.767***         5.562***         5.865***         5.924***         5.653***           (0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110         110         110         110         110         110           Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3         2008Q1 - 20		( 0.005)	( 0.004)	( 0.004)	( 0.005)	( 0.004)	( 0.004)
(0.352)         (0.291)         (0.283)         (0.323)         (0.292)         (0.314)           Nobs         110 </td <td>GRC10Q3</td> <td>5.839***</td> <td>5.767***</td> <td>5.562***</td> <td>5.865***</td> <td>5.924***</td> <td>5.653***</td>	GRC10Q3	5.839***	5.767***	5.562***	5.865***	5.924***	5.653***
Nobs         110 <td></td> <td>( 0.352)</td> <td>( 0.291)</td> <td>( 0.283)</td> <td>( 0.323)</td> <td>( 0.292)</td> <td>( 0.314)</td>		( 0.352)	( 0.291)	( 0.283)	( 0.323)	( 0.292)	( 0.314)
Period         2008Q1 - 2010Q3         2008Q1 - 2010Q3 <td>Nobs</td> <td>110</td> <td>110</td> <td>110</td> <td>110</td> <td>110</td> <td>110</td>	Nobs	110	110	110	110	110	110
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup> 0.474         0.497         0.528         0.503         0.495         0.522           SE         0.594         0.579         0.550         0.590         0.586         0.553	Period	2008Q1 - 2010Q3					
SE 0.594 0.579 0.550 0.590 0.586 0.553	Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>	0.474	0.497	0.528	0.503	0.495	0.522
	SE	0.594	0.579	0.550	0.590	0.586	0.553

Table A2.4 Estimated equations with a quantile regression (median), confidence intervals
calculated by X-Y pair bootstrap (10 000 repetitions)

#### Liste des documents de travail de la Direction des Études et Synthèses Économiques

G 9203

G 9204

G 9205

G 9206

G 9207

G 9208

G 9209

G 9301

G 9302

G 9303

G 9304

G 9305

G 9306

G 9307

G 9308

G 9309

G 9310

G 9311

I STAPIC

térales du GATT

P. SEVESTRE

H FRKEL-ROUSSE

(réestimation 1992)

growth

P. MOHNEN

heterogeneity

Ch. CASES

économique

P. JAILLARD

J.L. BRILLET

J.L. BRILLET

S JACOBZONE

perspective européenne

L. BLOCH - B. CŒURE

quelques points de repère

historique

J TOUJAS-BERNATE

H. ERKEL-ROUSSE

pour la politique commerciale

travail : une revue de la littérature

N. GREENAN - D. GUELLEC /

G. BROUSSAUDIER - L. MIOTTI

patent life

Juin 1992 (1ère version)

Novembre 1992 (version finale)

temporelles. Une note introductive

N. GREENAN et D. GUELLEC

B. CREPON et E. DUGUET

L'économétrie sur données individuelles-

ternational dans le modèle AMADEUS

A. MAGNIER et J. TOUJAS-BERNATE

the major five industrialized countries

Le commerce extérieur et l'environnement in-

Coordination within the firm and endogenous

Technology and trade : empirical evidences for

Cooperative, non cooperative R & D and optimal

Research and development, competition and

innovation : an application of pseudo maximum likelihood methods to Poisson models with

Commerce international et concurrence impar-

faite : développements récents et implications

Durées de chômage et comportements d'offre de

Union économique et monétaire : le débat

Innovation organisationnelle, dynamisme tech-

Le traité de Maastricht : présentation juridique et

Les grands réseaux publics français dans une

Les théories sur la structure optimal du capital :

Profitabilité de l'investissement productif et

transmission des chocs financiers

J. BOURDIEU - B. COLIN-SEDILLOT

J. BOURDIEU - B. COLIN-SEDILLOT Les décisions de financement des entreprises

nologique et performances des entreprises

Micro-DMS : présentation et propriétés

Micro-DMS - variantes : les tableaux

B. CREPON, E. DUGUET, D. ENCAOUA et

Macro-economic import functions with imperfect

competition - An application to the E.C. Trade

Les échanges internationaux de services de la

France dans le cadre des négociations multila-

G 9001	J. FAYOLLE et M. FLEURBAEY Accumulation, profitabilité et endettement des entreprises
G 9002	H. ROUSSE Détection et effets de la multicolinéarité dans les modèles linéaires ordinaires - Un prolongement de la réflexion de BELSLEY, KUH et WELSCH
G 9003	P. RALLE et J. TOUJAS-BERNATE Indexation des salaires : la rupture de 1983
G 9004	D. GUELLEC et P. RALLE Compétitivité, croissance et innovation de produit
G 9005	P. RALLE et J. TOUJAS-BERNATE Les conséquences de la désindexation. Analyse dans une maquette prix-salaires
G 9101	Equipe AMADEUS Le modèle AMADEUS - Première partie - Présentation générale
G 9102	J.L. BRILLET Le modèle AMADEUS - Deuxième partie - Propriétés variantielles
G 9103	D. GUELLEC et P. RALLE Endogenous growth and product innovation
G 9104	H. ROUSSE Le modèle AMADEUS - Troisième partie - Le commerce extérieur et l'environnement international
G 9105	H. ROUSSE Effets de demande et d'offre dans les résultats du commerce extérieur manufacturé de la France au cours des deux dernières décennies
G 9106	B. CREPON Innovation, taille et concentration : causalités et dynamiques
G 9107	B. AMABLE et D. GUELLEC Un panorama des théories de la croissance endogène
G 9108	M. GLAUDE et M. MOUTARDIER Une évaluation du coût direct de l'enfant de 1979 à 1989
G 9109	P. RALLE et alii France - Allemagne : performances économi- ques comparées
G 9110	J.L. BRILLET Micro-DMS <b>NON PARU</b>
G 9111	A. MAGNIER Effets accélérateur et multiplicateur en France depuis 1970 : quelques résultats empiriques
G 9112	B. CREPON et G. DUREAU Investissement en recherche-développement : analyse de causalités dans un modèle d'accélé- rateur généralisé
G 9113	J.L. BRILLET, H. ERKEL-ROUSSE, J. TOUJAS- BERNATE "France-Allemagne Couplées" - Deux économies vues par une maquette macro-économétrique
G 9201	W.J. ADAMS, B. CREPON, D. ENCAOUA Choix technologiques et stratégies de dissuasion d'entrée
G 9202	J. OLIVEIRA-MARTINS,

françaises : une évaluation empirique des théories de la structure optimale du capital

G 9312 L. BLOCH - B. CŒURÉ Q de Tobin marginal et transmission des chocs financiers

- G 9313 Equipes Amadeus (INSEE), Banque de France, Métric (DP) Présentation des propriétés des principaux modèles macroéconomiques du Service Public
- G 9314 B. CREPON E. DUGUET Research & Development, competition and innovation
- G 9315 B. DORMONT Quelle est l'influence du coût du travail sur l'emploi ?
- G 9316 D. BLANCHET C. BROUSSE Deux études sur l'âge de la retraite
- G 9317 D. BLANCHET Répartition du travail dans une population hétérogène : deux notes
- G 9318 D. EYSSARTIER N. PONTY AMADEUS - an annual macro-economic model for the medium and long term
- G 9319 G. CETTE Ph. CUNÉO D. EYSSARTIER -J. GAUTIÉ Les effets sur l'emploi d'un abaissement du coût du travail des jeunes
- G 9401 D. BLANCHET Les structures par âge importent-elles ?
- G 9402 J. GAUTIÉ Le chômage des jeunes en France : problème de formation ou phénomène de file d'attente ? Quelques éléments du débat
- G 9403 P. QUIRION Les déchets en France : éléments statistiques et économiques
- G 9404 D. LADIRAY M. GRUN-REHOMME Lissage par moyennes mobiles - Le problème des extrémités de série
- G 9405 V. MAILLARD Théorie et pratique de la correction des effets de jours ouvrables
- G 9406 F. ROSENWALD La décision d'investir
- G 9407 S. JACOBZONE Les apports de l'économie industrielle pour définir la stratégie économigue de l'hôpital public
- G 9408 L. BLOCH, J. BOURDIEU, B. COLIN-SEDILLOT, G. LONGUEVILLE Du défaut de paiement au dépôt de bilan : les banquiers face aux PME en difficulté
- G 9409 D. EYSSARTIER, P. MAIRE Impacts macro-économiques de mesures d'aide au logement - quelques éléments d'évaluation
- G 9410 F. ROSENWALD Suivi conjoncturel de l'investissement
- G 9411 C. DEFEUILLEY Ph. QUIRION Les déchets d'emballages ménagers : une analyse économique des politiques française et allemande

	Investissement, incertitude et irréversibilité Quelques développements récents de la théorie de l'investissement
G 9413	B. DORMONT - M. PAUCHET L'évaluation de l'élasticité emploi-salaire dépend- elle des structures de qualification ?
G 9414	I. KABLA Le Choix de breveter une invention
G 9501	J. BOURDIEU - B. CŒURÉ - B. SEDILLOT Irreversible Investment and Uncertainty : When is there a Value of Waiting ?
G 9502	L. BLOCH - B. CŒURÉ Imperfections du marché du crédit, investisse- ment des entreprises et cycle économique
G 9503	D. GOUX - E. MAURIN Les transformations de la demande de travail par qualification en France Une étude sur la période 1970-1993
G 9504	N. GREENAN Technologie, changement organisationnel, qua- lifications et emploi : une étude empirique sur l'industrie manufacturière
G 9505	D. GOUX - E. MAURIN Persistance des hiérarchies sectorielles de sa- laires: un réexamen sur données françaises
G 9505 Bis	D. GOUX - E. MAURIN Persistence of inter-industry wages differentials: a reexamination on matched worker-firm panel data
G 9506	S. JACOBZONE Les liens entre RMI et chômage, une mise en perspective NON PARU - article sorti dans Economie et Prévision n° 122 (1996) - pages 95 à 113
G 9507	G. CETTE - S. MAHFOUZ Le partage primaire du revenu Constat descriptif sur longue période
G 9601	Banque de France - CEPREMAP - Direction de la Prévision - Erasme - INSEE - OFCE Structures et propriétés de cinq modèles macro- économiques français
G 9602	Rapport d'activité de la DESE de l'année 1995
G 9603	J. BOURDIEU - A. DRAZNIEKS L'octroi de crédit aux PME : une analyse à partir d'informations bancaires
G 9604	A. TOPIOL-BENSAÏD Les implantations japonaises en France
G 9605	P. GENIER - S. JACOBZONE Comportements de prévention, consommation d'alcool et tabagie : peut-on parler d'une gestion globale du capital santé ? Une modélisation microéconométrique empirique
G 9606	C. DOZ - F. LENGLART Factor analysis and unobserved component models: an application to the study of French business surveys
G 9607	N. GREENAN - D. GUELLEC La théorie coopérative de la firme

J. BOURDIEU - B. CŒURÉ -B. COLIN-SEDILLOT

G 9412

#### iii

- G 9608 N. GREENAN D. GUELLEC Technological innovation and employment reallocation
- G 9609 Ph. COUR F. RUPPRECHT L'intégration asymétrique au sein du continent américain : un essai de modélisation
- G 9610 S. DUCHENE G. FORGEOT A. JACQUOT Analyse des évolutions récentes de la productivité apparente du travail
- G 9611 X. BONNET S. MAHFOUZ The influence of different specifications of wages-prices spirals on the measure of the NAIRU : the case of France
- G 9612 PH. COUR E. DUBOIS, S. MAHFOUZ, J. PISANI-FERRY The cost of fiscal retrenchment revisited: how strong is the evidence ?
- G 9613 A. JACQUOT Les flexions des taux d'activité sont-elles seulement conjoncturelles ?
- G 9614 ZHANG Yingxiang SONG Xueqing Lexique macroéconomique Français-Chinois
- G 9701 J.L. SCHNEIDER La taxe professionnelle : éléments de cadrage économique
- G 9702 J.L. SCHNEIDER Transition et stabilité politique d'un système redistributif
- G 9703 D. GOUX E. MAURIN Train or Pay: Does it Reduce Inequalities to Encourage Firms to Train their Workers?
- G 9704 P. GENIER Deux contributions sur dépendance et équité
- G 9705 E. DUGUET N. IUNG R & D Investment, Patent Life and Patent Value An Econometric Analysis at the Firm Level
- G 9706 M. HOUDEBINE A. TOPIOL-BENSAÏD Les entreprises internationales en France : une analyse à partir de données individuelles
- G 9707 M. HOUDEBINE Polarisation des activités et spécialisation des départements en France
- G 9708 E. DUGUET N. GREENAN Le biais technologique : une analyse sur données individuelles
- G 9709 J.L. BRILLET Analyzing a small French ECM Model
- G 9710 J.L. BRILLET Formalizing the transition process : scenarios for capital accumulation
- G 9711 G. FORGEOT J. GAUTIÉ Insertion professionnelle des jeunes et processus de déclassement
- G 9712 E. DUBOIS High Real Interest Rates: the Consequence of a Saving Investment Disequilibrium or of an insufficient Credibility of Monetary Authorities?
- G 9713 Bilan des activités de la Direction des Etudes et Synthèses Economiques - 1996

- G 9714 F. LEQUILLER Does the French Consumer Price Index Overstate Inflation?
- G 9715 X. BONNET Peut-on mettre en évidence les rigidités à la baisse des salaires nominaux ? Une étude sur quelques grands pays de l'OCDE
- G 9716 N. IUNG F. RUPPRECHT Productivité de la recherche et rendements d'échelle dans le secteur pharmaceutique français
- G 9717 E. DUGUET I. KABLA Appropriation strategy and the motivations to use the patent system in France - An econometric analysis at the firm level
- G 9718 L.P. PELÉ P. RALLE Âge de la retraite : les aspects incitatifs du régime général
- G 9719 ZHANG Yingxiang SONG Xueqing Lexique macroéconomique français-chinois, chinois-français
- G 9720 M. HOUDEBINE J.L. SCHNEIDER Mesurer l'influence de la fiscalité sur la localisation des entreprises
- G 9721 A. MOUROUGANE Crédibilité, indépendance et politique monétaire Une revue de la littérature
- G 9722 P. AUGERAUD L. BRIOT Les données comptables d'entreprises Le système intermédiaire d'entreprises Passage des données individuelles aux données sectorielles
- G 9723 P. AUGERAUD J.E. CHAPRON Using Business Accounts for Compiling National Accounts: the French Experience
- G 9724 P. AUGERAUD Les comptes d'entreprise par activités - Le passage aux comptes - De la comptabilité d'entreprise à la comptabilité nationale - A paraître
- G 9801 H. MICHAUDON C. PRIGENT Présentation du modèle AMADEUS
- G 9802 J. ACCARDO Une étude de comptabilité générationnelle pour la France en 1996
- G 9803 X. BONNET S. DUCHÊNE Apports et limites de la modélisation « Real Business Cycles »
- G 9804 C. BARLET C. DUGUET -D. ENCAOUA - J. PRADEL The Commercial Sucess of Innovations An econometric analysis at the firm level in French manufacturing
- G 9805 P. CAHUC Ch. GIANELLA -D. GOUX - A. ZILBERBERG Equalizing Wage Differences and Bargaining Power - Evidence form a Panel of French Firms
- G 9806 J. ACCARDO M. JLASSI La productivité globale des facteurs entre 1975 et 1996
- G 9807 Bilan des activités de la Direction des Etudes et Synthèses Economiques - 1997

- G 9808 A. MOUROUGANE Can a Conservative Governor Conduct an Accomodative Monetary Policy ?
- G 9809 X. BONNET E. DUBOIS L. FAUVET Asymétrie des inflations relatives et menus costs : tests sur l'inflation française
- G 9810 E. DUGUET N. IUNG Sales and Advertising with Spillovers at the firm level: Estimation of a Dynamic Structural Model on Panel Data
- G 9811 J.P. BERTHIER Congestion urbaine : un modèle de trafic de pointe à courbe débit-vitesse et demande élastique
- G 9812 C. PRIGENT La part des salaires dans la valeur ajoutée : une approche macroéconomique
- G 9813 A.Th. AERTS L'évolution de la part des salaires dans la valeur ajoutée en France reflète-t-elle les évolutions individuelles sur la période 1979-1994 ?
- G 9814 B. SALANIÉ Guide pratique des séries non-stationnaires
- G 9901 S. DUCHÊNE A. JACQUOT Une croissance plus riche en emplois depuis le début de la décennie ? Une analyse en comparaison internationale
- G 9902 Ch. COLIN Modélisation des carrières dans Destinie
- G 9903 Ch. COLIN Evolution de la dispersion des salaires : un essai de prospective par microsimulation
- G 9904 B. CREPON N. IUNG Innovation, emploi et performances
- G 9905 B. CREPON Ch. GIANELLA Wages inequalities in France 1969-1992 An application of quantile regression techniques
- G 9906 C. BONNET R. MAHIEU Microsimulation techniques applied to intergenerational transfers - Pensions in a dynamic framework: the case of France
- G 9907 F. ROSENWALD L'impact des contraintes financières dans la décision d'investissement
- G 9908 Bilan des activités de la DESE 1998
- G 9909 J.P. ZOYEM Contrat d'insertion et sortie du RMI Evaluation des effets d'une politique sociale
- G 9910 Ch. COLIN FI. LEGROS R. MAHIEU Bilans contributifs comparés des régimes de retraite du secteur privé et de la fonction publique
- G 9911 G. LAROQUE B. SALANIÉ Une décomposition du non-emploi en France
- G 9912 B. SALANIÉ Une maquette analytique de long terme du marché du travail
- G 9912 Ch. GIANELLA Bis Une estimation de l'élasticité de l'emploi peu qualifié à son coût

- G 9913 Division « Redistribution et Politiques Sociales » Le modèle de microsimulation dynamique DESTINIE G 9914 E. DUGUET Macro-commandes SAS pour l'économétrie des
- Macro-commandes SAS pour l'économètrie de panels et des variables qualitatives G 9915 R. DUHAUTOIS
  - R. DUHAUTOIS Evolution des flux d'emplois en France entre 1990 et 1996 : une étude empirique à partir du fichier des bénéfices réels normaux (BRN)
- G 9916 J.Y. FOURNIER Extraction du cycle des afffaires : la méthode de Baxter et King
- G 9917 B. CRÉPON R. DESPLATZ J. MAIRESSE Estimating price cost margins, scale economies and workers' bargaining power at the firm level
- G 9918 Ch. GIANELLA Ph. LAGARDE Productivity of hours in the aggregate production function: an evaluation on a panel of French firms from the manufacturing sector
- G 9919 S. AUDRIC P. GIVORD C. PROST Evolution de l'emploi et des coûts par qualification entre 1982 et 1996
- G 2000/01 R. MAHIEU Les déterminants des dépenses de santé : une approche macroéconomique
- G 2000/02 C. ALLARD-PRIGENT H. GUILMEAU -A. QUINET The real exchange rate as the relative price of nontrables in terms of tradables: theoretical investigation and empirical study on French data
- G 2000/03 J.-Y. FOURNIER L'approximation du filtre passe-bande proposée par Christiano et Fitzgerald
- G 2000/04 Bilan des activités de la DESE 1999
- G 2000/05 B. CREPON F. ROSENWALD Investissement et contraintes de financement : le poids du cycle Une estimation sur données françaises
- G 2000/06 A. FLIPO Les comportements matrimoniaux de fait
- G 2000/07 R. MAHIEU B. SÉDILLOT Microsimulations of the retirement decision: a supply side approach
- G 2000/08 C. AUDENIS C. PROST Déficit conjoncturel : une prise en compte des conjonctures passées
- G 2000/09 R. MAHIEU B. SÉDILLOT Equivalent patrimonial de la rente et souscription de retraite complémentaire
- G 2000/10 R. DUHAUTOIS Ralentissement de l'investissement : petites ou grandes entreprises ? industrie ou tertiaire ?
- G 2000/11 G. LAROQUE B. SALANIÉ Temps partiel féminin et incitations financières à l'emploi
- G2000/12 Ch. GIANELLA Local unemployment and wages
- G2000/13 B. CREPON Th. HECKEL - Informatisation en France : une évaluation à partir de données individuelles

	- Computerization in France: an evaluation based on individual company data
G2001/01	F. LEQUILLER - La nouvelle économie et la mesure de la croissance du PIB - The new economy and the measure ment of GDP growth
G2001/02	S. AUDRIC La reprise de la croissance de l'emploi profite-t- elle aussi aux non-diplômés ?
G2001/03	I. BRAUN-LEMAIRE Evolution et répartition du surplus de productivité
G2001/04	A. BEAUDU - Th. HECKEL Le canal du crédit fonctionne-t-il en Europe ? Une étude de l'hétérogénéité des com- portements d'investissement à partir de données de bilan agrégées
G2001/05	C. AUDENIS - P. BISCOURP - N. FOURCADE - O. LOISEL Testing the augmented Solow growth model : An empirical reassessment using panel data
G2001/06	R. MAHIEU - B. SÉDILLOT Départ à la retraite, irréversibilité et incertitude
G2001/07	Bilan des activités de la DESE - 2000
G2001/08	J. Ph. GAUDEMET Les dispositifs d'acquisition à titre facultatif d'annuités viagères de retraite
G2001/09	B. CRÉPON - Ch. GIANELLA Fiscalité, coût d'usage du capital et demande de facteurs : une analyse sur données individuelles
G2001/10	B. CRÉPON - R. DESPLATZ Evaluation des effets des dispositifs d'allégements de charges sociales sur les bas salaires
G2001/11	JY. FOURNIER Comparaison des salaires des secteurs public et privé
G2001/12	JP. BERTHIER - C. JAULENT R. CONVENEVOLE - S. PISANI Une méthodologie de comparaison entre consommations intermédiaires de source fiscale et de comptabilité nationale
G2001/13	P. BISCOURP - Ch. GIANELLA Substitution and complementarity between capital, skilled and less skilled workers: an analysis at the firm level in the French manufacturing industry
G2001/14	I. ROBERT-BOBEE Modelling demographic behaviours in the French microsimulation model Destinie: An analysis of future change in completed fertility
G2001/15	JP. ZOYEM Diagnostic sur la pauvreté et calendrier de revenus : le cas du "Panel européen des ménages »
G2001/16	JY. FOURNIER - P. GIVORD La réduction des taux d'activité aux âges extrêmes, une spécificité française ?
G2001/17	C. AUDENIS - P. BISCOURP - N. RIEDINGER Existe-t-il une asymétrie dans la transmission du prix du brut aux prix des carburants ?

G2002/01	F. MAGNIEN - JL. TAVERNIER - D. THESMAR Les statistiques internationales de PIB par habitant en standard de pouvoir d'achat : une analyse des résultats
G2002/02	Bilan des activités de la DESE - 2001
G2002/03	B. SÉDILLOT - E. WALRAET La cessation d'activité au sein des couples : y a- t-il interdépendance des choix ?
G2002/04	<ul> <li>G. BRILHAULT</li> <li>Rétropolation des séries de FBCF et calcul du capital fixe en SEC-95 dans les comptes nationaux français</li> <li>Retropolation of the investment series (GFCF) and estimation of fixed capital stocks on the ESA-95 basis for the French balance sheets</li> </ul>
G2002/05	P. BISCOURP - B. CRÉPON - T. HECKEL - N. RIEDINGER How do firms respond to cheaper computers? Microeconometric evidence for France based on a production function approach
G2002/06	C. AUDENIS - J. DEROYON - N. FOURCADE L'impact des nouvelles technologies de l'information et de la communication sur l'économie française - un bouclage macro- économique
G2002/07	J. BARDAJI - B. SÉDILLOT - E. WALRAET Évaluation de trois réformes du Régime Général d'assurance vieillesse à l'aide du modèle de microsimulation DESTINIE
G2002/08	JP. BERTHIER Réflexions sur les différentes notions de volume dans les comptes nationaux : comptes aux prix d'une année fixe ou aux prix de l'année précédente, séries chaînées
G2002/09	F. HILD Les soldes d'opinion résument-ils au mieux les réponses des entreprises aux enquêtes de conjoncture ?
G2002/10	I. ROBERT-BOBÉE Les comportements démographiques dans le modèle de microsimulation Destinie - Une comparaison des estimations issues des enquêtes Jeunes et Carrières 1997 et Histoire Familiale 1999
G2002/11	JP. ZOYEM La dynamique des bas revenus : une analyse des entrées-sorties de pauvreté
G2002/12	F. HILD Prévisions d'inflation pour la France
G2002/13	M. LECLAIR Réduction du temps de travail et tensions sur les facteurs de production
G2002/14	E. WALRAET - A. VINCENT - Analyse de la redistribution intragénérationnelle dans le système de retraite des salariés du privé - Une approche par microsimulation - Intragenerational distributional analysis in the french private sector pension scheme - A microsimulation approach
G2002/15	P. CHONE - D. LE BLANC - I. ROBERT-BOBEE Offre de travail féminine et garde des jeunes

enfants

G2004/06 M DUÉE Les indices de compétitivité des pays : inter-L'impact du chômage des parents sur le devenir scolaire des enfants P AUBERT - E CAROLL - M ROGER G2004/07 Le coût de dépollution atmosphérique pour les New Techlologies, Workplace Organisation and entreprises francaises : Une estimation à partir the Age Structure of the Workforce: Firm-Level Evidence E. DUGUET - C. LELARGE G2004/08 Création d'emplois, destruction d'emplois et Les brevets accroissent-ils les incitations privées internationalisation des entreprises industrielles à innover ? Un examen microéconométrique françaises : une analyse sur la période 1986-S. RASPILLER - P. SILLARD G2004/09 Affiliating versus Subcontracting: the Case of Multinationals G2004/10 J. BOISSINOT - C. L'ANGEVIN - B. MONFORT Public Debt Sustainability: Some Results on the French Case Évolutions démographiques et croissance : une G2004/11 S. ANANIAN - P. AUBERT projection macro-économique à l'horizon 2020 Travailleurs âgés, nouvelles technologies et changements organisationnels : un réexamen La situation des salariés de plus de cinquante à partir de l'enquête « REPONSE » G2004/12 X. BONNET - H. PONCET Structures de revenus et propensions différentes à consommer - Vers une équation de La productivité des salariés décline-t-elle en fin consommation des ménages plus robuste en prévision pour la France C. PICART H. BARON - P.O. BEFFY - N. FOURCADE - R. G2004/13 Évaluer la rentabilité des sociétés non Le ralentissement de la productivité du travail au financières J. BARDAJI - B. SÉDILLOT - E. WALRAET G2004/14 Les retraites du secteur public : projections à Patrimoine des ménages, dynamique d'allocation l'horizon 2040 à l'aide du modèle de microsimulation DESTINIE G2005/01 S. BUFFETEAU - P. GODEFROY Peut-on mettre en évidence l'existence de Conditions de départ en retraite selon l'âge de fin rigidités à la baisse des salaires à partir de d'études : analyse prospective pour les données individulles ? Le cas de la France à la générations 1945 à1974 G2005/02 C. AFSA - S. BUFFETEAU L'évolution de l'activité féminine en France : Présence syndicale dans les firmes : quel impact une approche par pseudo-panel sur les inégalités salariales entre les hommes et G2005/03 P. AUBERT - P. SILLARD Délocalisations et réductions d'effectifs P.-O. BEFFY - X. BONNET - M. DARRACQdans l'industrie française G2005/04 M. LECLAIR - S. ROUX MZE: a small macro-model for the euro area Mesure et utilisation des emplois instables dans les entreprises La compétitivité exprimée dans les enquêtes G2005/05 C. L'ANGEVIN - S. SERRAVALLE trimestrielles sur la situation et les perspectives Performances à l'exportation de la France et de l'Allemagne - Une analyse par secteur et destination géographique La dépendance des personnes âgées : une Bilan des activités de la Direction des Études et G2005/06 Synthèses Économiques - 2004 G2005/07 S RASPILLER Régulation environnementale et choix de La concurrence fiscale : principaux enseignements de l'analyse économique C. L'ANGEVIN - N. LAÏB G2005/08 Les déterminants de la décision d'investir : une Éducation et croissance en France et dans un approche par les perceptions subjectives des panel de 21 pays de l'OCDE N. FERRARI G2005/09 Prévoir l'investissement des entreprises La déclaration des enfants par les couples non Un indicateur des révisions dans l'enquête de conjoncture sur les investissements dans l'industrie.

G2002/16

G2003/01

G2003/02

G2003/03

G2003/04

G2003/05

G2003/06

G2003/07

G2003/08

G2003/09

G2003/10

G2003/11

G2004/01

G2004/02

G2004/03

G2004/04

G2004/05

F. MAUREL - S. GREGOIR

N RIEDINGER - E HAUVY

de données individuelles

P. BISCOURP et F. KRAMARZ

P.-O. BEFFY - J. DEROYON -

ans dans le secteur privé

P AUBERT - B CRÉPON

Age, salaire et productivité

cours des années 1990

fin des années 90

les femmes?

dans l'industrie

firmes

N. RAGACHE

M. LECLAIR - P. PETIT

PARIES - B. MONFORT

P. AUBERT - M. LECLAIR

M. DUÉE - C. REBILLARD

S. RASPILLER - N. RIEDINGER

localisation des groupes français

A NABOULET - S RASPILLER

mariés est-elle fiscalement optimale ?

projection à long terme

P.-O. BEFFY - B. MONFORT

et comportement de consommation

P. BISCOURP - N. FOURCADE

Bilan des activités de la DESE - 2002

N. FOURCADE - S. GREGOIR - N. LAÏB -

prétation et limites

1992

**B. MONFORT** 

P. AUBERT

de carrière ?

MAHIELI

- vii
- G2005/10 P.-O. BEFFY C. L'ANGEVIN Chômage et boucle prix-salaires : apport d'un modèle « qualiifés/peu qualifiés »
- G2005/11 B. HEITZ A two-states Markov-switching model of inflation in France and the USA: credible target VS inflation spiral
- G2005/12 O. BIAU H. ERKEL-ROUSSE N. FERRARI Réponses individuelles aux enquêtes de conjoncture et prévision macroéconomiques : Exemple de la prévision de la production manufacturière
- G2005/13 P. AUBERT D. BLANCHET D. BLAU The labour market after age 50: some elements of a Franco-American comparison
- G2005/14 D. BLANCHET T. DEBRAND -P. DOURGNON - P. POLLET L'enquête SHARE : présentation et premiers résultats de l'édition française
- G2005/15 M. DUÉE La modélisation des comportements démographiques dans le modèle de microsimulation DESTINIE
- G2005/16 H. RAOUI S. ROUX Étude de simulation sur la participation versée aux salariés par les entreprises
- G2006/01 C. BONNET S. BUFFETEAU P. GODEFROY Disparités de retraite de droit direct entre hommes et femmes : quelles évolutions ?
- G2006/02 C. PICART Les gazelles en France
- G2006/03 P. AUBERT B. CRÉPON -P. ZAMORA Le rendement apparent de la formation continue dans les entreprises : effets sur la productivité et les salaires
- G2006/04 J.-F. OUVRARD R. RATHELOT Demographic change and unemployment: what do macroeconometric models predict?
- G2006/05 D. BLANCHET J.-F. OUVRARD Indicateurs d'engagements implicites des systèmes de retraite : chiffrages, propriétés analytiques et réactions à des chocs démographiques types
- G2006/06 G. BIAU O. BIAU L. ROUVIERE Nonparametric Forecasting of the Manufacturing Output Growth with Firm-level Survey Data
- G2006/07 C. AFSA P. GIVORD Le rôle des conditions de travail dans les absences pour maladie
- G2006/08 P. SILLARD C. L'ANGEVIN S. SERRAVALLE Performances comparées à l'exportation de la France et de ses principaux partenaires Une analyse structurelle sur 12 ans
- G2006/09 X. BOUTIN S. QUANTIN Une méthodologie d'évaluation comptable du coût du capital des entreprises françaises : 1984-2002
- G2006/10 C. AFSA L'estimation d'un coût implicite de la pénibilité du travail chez les travailleurs âgés

- G2006/11 C. LELARGE Les entreprises (industrielles) françaises sontelles à la frontière technologique ? G2006/12 O BIAU - N FERRARI Théorie de l'opinion Faut-il pondérer les réponses individuelles ? G2006/13 A. KOUBI - S. ROUX Une réinterprétation de la relation entre productivité et inégalités salariales dans les entreprises G2006/14 R. RATHELOT - P. SILLARD The impact of local taxes on plants location decision G2006/15 L. GONZALEZ - C. PICART Diversification, recentrage et poids des activités de support dans les groupes (1993-2000) G2007/01 D. SRAER Allègements de cotisations patronales et dynamique salariale G2007/02 V. ALBOUY - L. LEQUIEN Les rendements non monétaires de l'éducation : le cas de la santé G2007/03 D. BLANCHET - T. DEBRAND Aspiration à la retraite, santé et satisfaction au travail : une comparaison européenne G2007/04 M. BARLET - L. CRUSSON Quel impact des variations du prix du pétrole sur la croissance francaise ? G2007/05 C. PICART Flux d'emploi et de main-d'œuvre en France : un réexamen G2007/06 V. ALBOUY - C. TAVAN Massification et démocratisation de l'enseignement supérieur en France G2007/07 T. LE BARBANCHON The Changing response to oil price shocks in France : a DSGE type approach T CHANEY - D SRAER - D THESMAR G2007/08 Collateral Value and Corporate Investment Evidence from the French Real Estate Market G2007/09 J. BOISSINOT
- Consumption over the Life Cycle: Facts for France
- G2007/10 C. AFSA Interpréter les variables de satisfaction : l'exemple de la durée du travail
- G2007/11 R. RATHELOT P. SILLARD Zones Franches Urbaines : quels effets sur l'emploi salarié et les créations d'établissements ?
- G2007/12 V. ALBOUY B. CRÉPON Aléa moral en santé : une évaluation dans le cadre du modèle causal de Rubin
- G2008/01 C. PICART Les PME françaises : rentables mais peu dynamiques
- G2008/02 P. BISCOURP X. BOUTIN T. VERGÉ The Effects of Retail Regulations on Prices Evidence form the Loi Galland
- G2008/03 Y. BARBESOL A. BRIANT Économies d'agglomération et productivité des

entreprises : estimation sur données individuelles françaises

- G2008/04 D. BLANCHET F. LE GALLO Les projections démographiques : principaux mécanismes et retour sur l'expérience française
- G2008/05 D. BLANCHET F. TOUTLEMONDE Évolutions démographiques et déformation du cycle de vie active : quelles relations ?
- G2008/06 M. BARLET D. BLANCHET L. CRUSSON Internationalisation et flux d'emplois : que dit une approche comptable ?
- G2008/07 C. LELARGE D. SRAER D. THESMAR Entrepreurship and Credit Constraints - Evidence from a French Loan Guarantee Program
- G2008/08 X. BOUTIN L. JANIN Are Prices Really Affected by Mergers?
- G2008/09 M. BARLET A. BRIANT L. CRUSSON Concentration géographique dans l'industrie manufacturière et dans les services en France : une approche par un indicateur en continu
- G2008/10 M. BEFFY É. COUDIN R. RATHELOT Who is confronted to insecure labor market histories? Some evidence based on the French labor market transition
- G2008/11 M. ROGER E. WALRAET Social Security and Well-Being of the Elderly: the Case of France
- G2008/12 C. AFSA Analyser les composantes du bien-être et de son évolution Une approche empirique sur données individuelles
- G2008/13 M. BARLET D. BLANCHET -T. LE BARBANCHON Microsimuler le marché du travail : un prototype
- G2009/01 P.-A. PIONNIER Le partage de la valeur ajoutée en France, 1949-2007
- G2009/02 Laurent CLAVEL Christelle MINODIER A Monthly Indicator of the French Business Climate
- G2009/03 H. ERKEL-ROUSSE C. MINODIER Do Business Tendency Surveys in Industry and Services Help in Forecasting GDP Growth? A Real-Time Analysis on French Data
- G2009/04 P. GIVORD L. WILNER Les contrats temporaires : trappe ou marchepied vers l'emploi stable ?
- G2009/05 G. LALANNE P.-A. PIONNIER O. SIMON Le partage des fruits de la croissance de 1950 à 2008 : une approche par les comptes de surplus
- G2009/06 L. DAVEZIES X. D'HAULTFOEUILLE Faut-il pondérer ?... Ou l'éternelle question de l'économètre confronté à des données d'enquête
- G2009/07 S. QUANTIN S. RASPILLER S. SERRAVALLE Commerce intragroupe, fiscalité et prix de transferts : une analyse sur données françaises
- G2009/08 M. CLERC V. MARCUS Élasticités-prix des consommations énergétiques des ménages
- Prix du pétrole et croisssance potentielle à long terme D. BLANCHET - J. LE CACHEUX - V. MARCUS G2009/10 Adjusted net savings and other approaches to sustaibability: some therotical backgroud G2009/11 V. BELLAMY - G. CONSALES - M. FESSEAU -S. LE LAIDIER - É. RAYNAUD Une décomposition du compte des ménages de la comptabilité nationale par catégorie de ménage en 2003 J. BARDAJI - F. TALLET G2009/12 Detecting Economic Regimes in France: a Qualitative Markov-Switching Indicator Using Mixed Frequency Data G2009/13 R. AEBERHARDT - D. FOUGÈRE R. RATHELOT Discrimination à l'embauche : comment exploiter les procédures de testina? G2009/14 Y. BARBESOL - P. GIVORD - S. QUANTIN Partage de la valeur ajoutée, approche par données microéconomiques G2009/15 I. BUONO - G. LALANNE The Effect of the Uruguay round on the Intensive and Extensive Margins of Trade G2010/01 C. MINODIER Avantages comparés des séries des premières valeurs publiées et des séries des valeurs révisées - Un exercice de prévision en temps réel de la croissance trimestrielle du PIB en France V ALBOUY - L DAVEZIES - T DEBRAND G2010/02 Health Expenditure Models: a Comparison of Five Specifications using Panel Data G2010/03 C. KLEIN - O. SIMON Le modèle MÉSANGE réestimé en base 2000 Tome 1 – Version avec volumes à prix constants G2010/04 M.-É. CLERC - É. COUDIN L'IPC, miroir de l'évolution du coût de la vie en France? Ce qu'apporte l'analyse des courbes d'Enael G2010/05 N. CECI-RENAUD - P.-A. CHEVALIER Les seuils de 10, 20 et 50 salariés : impact sur la taille des entreprises françaises G2010/06 R. AEBERHARDT - J. POUGET National Origin Differences in Wages and Hierarchical Positions - Evidence on French Full-Time Male Workers from a matched Employer-Employee Dataset S. BLASCO - P. GIVORD G2010/07 Les trajectoires professionnelles en début de vie active : quel impact des contrats temporaires ? G2010/08 P. GIVORD Méthodes économétriques pour l'évaluation de politiques publiques P.-Y. CABANNES - V. LAPÈGUE -G2010/09 E. POULIQUEN - M. BEFFY - M. GAINI Quelle croissance de moyen terme après la crise ? G2010/10 I. BUONO - G. LALANNE

La réaction des entreprises francaises

à la baisse des tarifs douaniers étrangers

G. LALANNE - E. POULIQUEN - O. SIMON

G2009/09

- G2010/11 R. RATHELOT P. SILLARD L'apport des méthodes à noyaux pour mesurer la concentration géographique - Application à la concentration des immigrés en France de 1968 à 1999
- G2010/12 M. BARATON M. BEFFY D. FOUGÈRE Une évaluation de l'effet de la réforme de 2003 sur les départs en retraite - Le cas des enseignants du second degré public
- G2010/13 D. BLANCHET S. BUFFETEAU E. CRENNER S. LE MINEZ Le modèle de microsimulation Destinie 2 : principales caractéristiques et premiers résultats
- G2010/14 D. BLANCHET E. CRENNER Le bloc retraites du modèle Destinie 2 : guide de l'utilisateur
- G2010/15 M. BARLET L. CRUSSON S. DUPUCH -F. PUECH Des services échangés aux services échangeables : une application sur données françaises
- G2010/16 M. BEFFY T. KAMIONKA Public-private wage gaps: is civil-servant human capital sector-specific?
- G2010/17 P.-Y. CABANNES H. ERKEL-ROUSSE -G. LALANNE - O. MONSO - E. POULIQUEN Le modèle Mésange réestimé en base 2000 Tome 2 - Version avec volumes à prix chaînés
- G2010/18 R. AEBERHARDT L. DAVEZIES Conditional Logit with one Binary Covariate: Link between the Static and Dynamic Cases
- G2011/01 T. LE BARBANCHON B. OURLIAC O. SIMON Les marchés du travail français et américain face aux chocs conjoncturels des années 1986 à 2007 : une modélisation DSGE
- G2011/02 C. MARBOT Une évaluation de la réduction d'impôt pour l'emploi de salariés à domicile
- G2011/03 L. DAVEZIES Modèles à effets fixes, à effets aléatoires, modèles mixtes ou multi-niveaux : propriétés et mises en œuvre des modélisations de l'hétérogénéité dans le cas de données groupées
- G2011/04 M. ROGER M. WASMER Heterogeneity matters: labour productivity differentiated by age and skills
- G2011/05 J.-C. BRICONGNE J.-M. FOURNIER V. LAPÈGUE - O. MONSO De la crise financière à la crise économique L'impact des perturbations financières de 2007 et 2008 sur la croissance de sept pays industrialisés
- G2011/06 P. CHARNOZ É. COUDIN M. GAINI Wage inequalities in France 1976-2004: a quantile regression analysis
- G2011/07 M. CLERC M. GAINI D. BLANCHET Recommendations of the Stiglitz-Sen-Fitoussi Report: A few illustrations
- G2011/08 M. BACHELET M. BEFFY D. BLANCHET Projeter l'impact des réformes des retraites sur l'activité des 55 ans et plus : une comparaison de trois modèles
- G2011/09 C. LOUVOT-RUNAVOT L'évaluation de l'activité dissimulée des entre-

- prises sur la base des contrôles fiscaux et son insertion dans les comptes nationaux
- G2011/10 A. SCHREIBER A. VICARD La tertiarisation de l'économie française et le ralentissement de la productivité entre 1978 et 2008
- G2011/11 M.-É. CLERC O. MONSO E. POULIQUEN Les inégalités entre générations depuis le babyboom
- G2011/12 C. MARBOT et D. ROY Évaluation de la transformation de la réduction d'impôt en crédit d'impôt pour l'emploi de salariés à domicile en 2007
- G2011/13 P. GIVORD R. RATHELOT P. SILLARD Place-based tax exemptions and displacement effects: An evaluation of the Zones Franches Urbaines program
- G2011/14 X. D'HAULTFOEUILLE P. GIVORD -X. BOUTIN The Environmental Effect of Green Taxation: the Case of the French "Bonus/Malus"
- G2011/15 M. BARLET M. CLERC M. GARNEO -V. LAPÉGUE - V. MARCUS La nouvelle version du modèle MZE, modèle macroéconométrique pour la zone euro
- G2011/16 R. AEBERHARDT I. BUONO H. FADINGER Learning, Incomplete Contracts and Export Dynamics: theory and Evidence form French Firms
- G2011/17 C. KERDRAIN V. LAPÈGUE Restrictive Fiscal Policies in Europe : What are the Likely Effects?